

Open Sets in \mathbb{C}^n

A. Floer^{1, *}, H. Hofer^{2, **}

¹ Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Postfach 102148, D-44721 Bochum, Germany ² ETH Zentrum, Mathematik, CH-8092 Zürich, Switzerland

Received 26 May 1992; in final form 15 February 1993

Table of contents

1	Introduction and outline of the main results	38
	1.1 Some general remarks 1.2 Periodic Hamiltonian trajectories in a symplectic rigidity theory	38 39
	1.3 The Conley-Zehnder index	40 42
	1.5 Monotonicity	44
	1.6 Symplectic homology	46
2	Apriori estimates	48
	2.1 A version of the maximum principle	48
	2.2 Variational estimates \dots 2.3 A C^0 -estimate	50 54
	2.4 C^{∞} -estimates	56
3	Transversality and compactness	58
	3.1 Regular Hamiltonians	58
	3.2 Regular trajectory spaces	60 62
	3.4 Compactness	63
4	Symplectic homology	65
	4.1 Coherent orientations	65
	4.2 Construction of chain complexes	67
	4.3 Monotonicity homotopies	72
	4.4 A general construction	79 82

^{*} Andreas Floer died on May 15, 1991. This is the one of several joint papers which were in preparation and are concerned with a symplectic homology theory ** Supported in parts by DFG-SFB 237 and DAAD-Procope

4.6	Some remarks	86
	Products	86
	Closed characteristics	86
	Outlook	87

1 Introduction and outline of the main results

1.1 Some general remarks

In recent years, much progress has been achieved in symplectic geometry and the variational theory of Hamiltonian dynamics. The variational existence theory for periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems initiated by P. Rabinowitz, [35, 36], and Gromov's theory of pseudoholomorphic curves in symplectic geometry, [26, 27], are corner stones for this development.

A few years after Rabinowitz's seminal work, Conley and Zehnder, [7], observed that the variational methods can be successfully used in studying symplectic fixed point problems. This lead them to the solution of one of the Arnold conjectures, [3, 4].

Motivated by an influential paper by Witten, [45], Floer was able to merge the variational and Gromov's elliptic theory, which lead to the so-called *Floer homology* for the Lagrangian intersection problem, [15, 16, 17, 19, 20], see also [18, 28], for the corresponding Ljusternik–Schnirelmann theory, and [34, 38] for a survey.

In their study of periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems with prescribed energy, [9], Ekeland and Hofer introduced an interesting, very rigid invariant for a convex energy surface. In [10, 11], motivated by [42], and [32], it was observed that Hamiltonian dynamics can be effectively used in studying symplectic rigidity phenomena. In [11], for example, infinitely many new symplectic invariants, so-called symplectic capacities have been constructed using the variational theory, see also [14, 29, 31, 44].

The aim of our series of papers on symplectic homology is concerned with combining Floer homology and Capacity theory. This will lead to a variety of new symplectic invariants, and interesting applications.

In the present paper SH I we construct a theory for open bounded subsets of \mathbb{C}^n . This construction already exhibits the key points of any more general theory. The present theory could presumably also be constructed using generating function type techniques as in [44]. However, such techniques can in general not be carried through on more general manifolds (at least not at the moment). The second paper SH II, [22], extends the theory to more general symplectic manifolds, which turns out not to be very difficult. Jointly with K. Wysocki we give applications of SH I, II in [24, 25]. In [24] we compute the symplectic homology of simple shapes and prove Gromov's conjecture concerning the classification of symplectic open polydisks. Moreover, we make some statements about the space of symplectic embeddings from one polydisk into another. In [25], we apply the more general results to show the invariance of the action spectrum of suitable symplectic manifolds with a contact type boundary. This particular application belongs to a circle of ideas concerned with the question what does the interior of a symplectic manifold know about its boundary. A particular striking phenomenon is the Benci-Sikorav rigidity for sets of the form $T^n \times U$ in $T^*(T^n)$, [5], [41]. For this type of problem see for negative as well as positive results, [12, 13, 14].

1.2 Periodic hamiltonian trajectories in a symplectic rigidity theory

Symplectic homology is a device to detect and measure symplectic rigidity. An important ingredient is the study of periodic orbits of Hamiltonian systems and closed characteristics on Hamiltonian energy surfaces. In this paper we shall deal only with the \mathbb{C}^n -case and refer the reader to SH II for the general case.

Let us view \mathbb{C}^n as a 2*n*-dimensional \mathbb{R} -vectorspace. We denote the usual complex Hermitian inner product by (*, *). Associated to (*, *) we have the real inner product $\langle *, * \rangle = \operatorname{Re}(*, *)$ and the symplectic form $\omega = \operatorname{Im}(*, *)$.

A smooth real hypersurface S in \mathbb{C}^n carries an important structure induced by the symplectic form ω . Namely define a one-dimensional distribution $\mathscr{L}_S \rightarrow S$ by

(1)
$$\mathscr{L}_{S} = \{(x,\xi) \in TS \mid \omega(\xi,\eta) = 0 \text{ for all } \eta \in T_{x}S\}$$

The integral curve through $x \in S$ will be denoted by $L_S(x)$. If S is compact, the closed integral curves $L_S(x) \simeq S^1$ are of particular interest. This collection of closed integral curves, also called periodic Hamiltonian trajectories, will be denoted by $\mathscr{P}(S)$. An element in $\mathscr{P}(S)$, say P, carries a numerical value $A(P) \in \mathbb{R}$ defined as follows. First of all, we may assume that S is connected. Then $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus S$ (assuming S to be compact) has in view of Alexander duality a unique bounded component B_S . We take a smooth map $H: \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$S = H^{-1}(0), \quad dH(x) \neq 0 \quad \text{for } x \in S$$
$$\inf_{x \in B_S} H(x) < 0 \; .$$

Then the Hamiltonian vectorfield X_H defined by

$$i_{X_{H}}\omega = dH$$

defines a nowhere vanishing section of $\mathscr{L}_S \to S$ and hence an orientation. Having this orientation in mind we have a canonical orientation of $P \in \mathscr{P}(S)$ in view of $TP = \mathscr{L}_{S|P}$. We define

$$A(P) = \int \lambda |_P$$

for $P \in \mathscr{P}(S)$, where λ is any 1-form on \mathbb{C}^n satisfying $d\lambda = \omega$.

Given a symplectic diffeomorphism $\Psi: \mathbb{C}^n \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}^n$ we have the following rules

(2)
$$A(P) = A(\Psi(P))$$
$$(T \Psi) \mathscr{L}_{S} = \mathscr{L}_{\Psi(S)}$$
$$\mathscr{P}(\Psi(S)) = \Psi(\mathscr{P}(S)) .$$

The crucial fact, which we will explore in this and the following papers, is that periodic trajectories occur naturally as obstructions in a symplectic rigidity theory. The following heuristic considerations clarify this statement.

Let us start with Gromov's celebrated Squeezing theorem, [26, 27]. Relying strongly on his theory of pseudoholomorphic curves, Gromov showed that the *r*-ball $B^{2n}(r)$ can be symplectically embedded into the *R*-cylinder $Z^{2n}(R) := B^2(R)$ $\times \mathbb{C}^{n-1}$ if and only if $R \ge r$. In [10] this result is proved using the variational study of periodic orbits of Hamiltonian systems. The occurrence of periodic solution seems to be absolutely unexpected in particular in view of the original proof of the squeezing theorem. In order to shed some light on this fact, let us assume we have an optimal embedding of some open bounded set U into $Z^{2n}(R)$. Optimal here means that there is no such symplectic embedding for R' < R. Without loss of generality we may assume $U \subset Z^{2n}(R)$. In addition let us also assume that U is bounded with a smooth boundary ∂U .

Next we try the impossible: Squeezing U into some smaller cylinder. Symplectic isotopies are generated by (time-dependent) Hamiltonians. Locally, the optimal way seems to be the following: One tries to push points in $\partial U \cap \partial Z^{2n}(R)$ into $Z^{2n}(R)$ by taking a Hamiltonian vectorfield which points inside $Z^{2n}(R)$ at points in $\partial U \cap \partial Z^{2n}(R)$ and which is allowed to point outside of $Z^{2n}(R)$ at points of $\partial Z^{2n}(R)$ which stay away from \overline{U} . (However the vectorfield should be sufficiently small there.) A Hamiltonian H achieving all that will increase along the integral curves of $\mathscr{L}_{\partial U}$ on the leaves in $\partial U \cap \partial Z^{2n}(R)$ and perhaps will be decreasing on the parts in $\partial Z^{2n}(R)$ staying away from \overline{U} . Obviously the only local obstruction is a common close characteristic contained in $\partial U \cap \partial Z^{2n}(R)$, i.e. $\mathscr{P}(\partial U) \cap \mathscr{P}(\partial Z^{2n}(R))$ contains a closed characteristic P_0 satisfying $P_0 \subset \partial U \cap \partial Z^{2n}(R)$. In fact in the case that such a P_0 exists the Hamiltonian H has to be strictly increasing along P_0 which is absurd. Assuming $\mathscr{P}(\partial U) \cap \mathscr{P}(\partial Z^{2n}(R)) = \emptyset$ we can construct a Hamiltonian close to every section $\mathbb{C} \times \{a\}$, $a \in \mathbb{C}^{n-1}$. Using a partition of unity in the section parameter $a \in \mathbb{C}^{n-1}$ only, one can globalize this construction (at least for nice sets). Hence if $\mathscr{P}(\partial U) \cap \mathscr{P}(\partial Z^{2n}(R)) = \emptyset$ we can construct a Hamiltonian H such that the associated time-1-map Ψ satisfies $\Psi(\overline{U}) \subset Z^{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ implying that U was not optimally squeezed contrary to our assumption. So our element in $\mathcal{P}(\partial U)$ turns out (in our simple minded heuristics) to be an obstruction for the squeezing problem (under favourable assumptions). Surprisingly it will turn out that there is real mathematics behind this consideration!

To make this more precise we recall the well-known fact that closed characteristics on hypersurfaces and periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems with prescribed energy are closely related (the dual character of time and energy in Hamiltonian mechanics).

The crucial phenomenon for our construction is the following fact exhibited in [32]: Given some open bounded set A of \mathbb{C}^n and a Hamiltonian $H: \mathbb{C}^n \to [0, +\infty)$, which vanishes on A, but grows sufficiently fast outside of A, the associated Hamiltonian system $\dot{x} = X_H(x)$, will have many 1-periodic solutions (nontrivial ones) geometrically close to ∂A . Here "close" depends on the growth rate of H outside of A. These 1-periodic solutions can be found as critical points of a functional on the loop space of \mathbb{C}^n . This is the so-called principle of the least action. It is a difficult variational principle, due to the fact that it is indefinite in the sense that the Morse indices of the critical points are always infinite.

This difficulty is handled by Floer's elliptic Morse theory, see [26, 27] for more information. The elliptic Morse theory combines Gromov's theory of pseudo-holomorphic curves [26, 27] with Conley's idea of connection matrices for flows. Our main construction merges the theory of symplectic capacities, [10, 11, 32, 43], with elliptic Morse theory.

Before we go into more details we give an outline of symplectic homology in the next sections.

1.3 The Conley–Zehnder index

We denote by Sp the group of linear symplectic maps in (\mathbb{C}^n, ω) . Sp* is the subset of Sp consisting of all symplectic maps which do not have 1 in their spectrum. Let $\pi_1 = \pi_1(\text{Sp}, \{\text{Id}\})$ be the fundamental group. It is well known that $\pi_1 \simeq \mathbb{Z}$. As

a generator we take the class - called Maslov class - given by the loop

$$\sigma(t) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{2\pi i t} & 0 \\ 1 & \\ & \ddots \\ 0 & & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad t \in [0, 1]$$

with $S^1 = \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$. We define a homomorphism $\mu: \pi_1 \to \mathbb{Z}$ by $\mu([\sigma]) = 1$. Next consider smooth arcs $\Psi: [0, 1] \to Sp$ satisfying

(3)
$$\Psi(0) = \mathrm{Id}, \quad \Psi(1) \in \mathrm{Sp}^*$$

We call two such arcs Ψ and Φ equivalent provided there is a smooth map $F: [0, 1] \times [0, 1] \rightarrow Sp$ such that

(4)
$$F(0, t) = \Psi(t), \quad F(1, t) = \Phi(t)$$
$$F([0, 1] \times \{1\}) \subset Sp^*$$
$$F([0, 1] \times \{0\}) = \{Id\}.$$

We denote by \mathscr{A} the set of equivalence classes. Let us denote by α , β the following two arcs

$$\alpha(t) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{\pi i t} & & \\ & e^{\pi i t} & & 0 \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & 0 & & e^{\pi i t} \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$\beta(t) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-\tau} \mathbf{R} \mathbf{e} + i e^{\tau} \mathbf{I} \mathbf{m} & \mathbf{0} \\ & e^{\pi i t} \\ & \ddots \\ \mathbf{0} & e^{\pi i t} \end{bmatrix}$$

We observe that π_1 acts on \mathscr{A} by

$$\pi_1 \times \mathscr{A} \longrightarrow A: [\sigma][\Phi] = [\sigma \Phi]$$
$$(\sigma \Phi)(t) = \sigma(t) \Phi(t) .$$

We have [8, 21, 39, 40]

Theorem 1 There exists a unique map $\mu_{CZ}: \mathcal{A} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ satisfying

$$\mu_{CZ}([\sigma] [\Phi]) = 2 + \mu_{CZ}([\Phi])$$
$$\mu_{CZ}([\alpha]) = n$$
$$\mu_{CZ}([\beta]) = n - 1 .$$

Next we introduce the class \mathscr{H} of smooth Hamiltonians $H: S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$(5) H|(S^1 \times \overline{U}) < 0$$

for some open bounded set $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ (possibly $U = \emptyset$). Moreover there exists a $\langle *, * \rangle$ -positive definite matrix A such that

(6)
$$|H'(t, u) - Au| |u|^{-1} \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |u| \to +\infty$$

uniformly for $t \in S^1$, where H' is the $\langle *, * \rangle$ -gradient with respect to the u-variable. Moreover the linear Hamiltonian system

(7)
$$-i\dot{x} = Ax, \quad x(0) = x(1)$$

has only the trivial solution. Further there exists a constant c > 0 such that

(8)
$$|H''(t, u) h| \leq c|h| \quad \text{for all } t \in S^1, \ u \in \mathbb{C}^n, \ h \in \mathbb{C}^n$$
$$\left|\frac{\partial H'}{\partial t}(t, u)\right| \leq c(1+|u|) \quad \text{for all } (t, u) \in S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \ .$$

We call a Hamiltonian $H \in \mathscr{H}$ regular if all 1-periodic solutions are non-degenerate, i.e. the linearization of the time-1-map Ψ_H at $x_0 = x(0)$, where $x \in \mathscr{P}_H = \{x: S^1 \to \mathbb{C}^n \mid \dot{x} = X_{H_t}(x)\}$, belongs to Sp*. Denote the collections of all regular Hamiltonians by \mathscr{H}_{reg} . If $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$ then the linear Hamiltonian system

$$h(t) = X'_{H_t}(x(t)) h(t), t \in [0, 1]$$

defines an arc $t \to \Psi_t^H$, $\Psi_0^H = \text{Id}$, with $\Psi_1^H \in \text{Sp}^*$. Hence we can define an index Ind(x, H) by letting

(9)
$$\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) = \mu_{CZ}([\Psi^H]).$$

Definition 2 For $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ we call $Ind(x, H) \in \mathbb{Z}$ as given in (9) the Conley-Zehnder index of the 1-periodic solution x of $\dot{x} = X_{H_{reg}}(x)$.

So, in some sense Ind(x, H) gives a local information concerning a periodic orbit x. In order to give relations between this local information we need Instanton homology or the so-called *Floer homology*. It has been previously exploited by Amann-Zehnder, [2], and Conley-Zehnder, [8], that asymptotically quadratic Hamiltonians admit a good existence theory.

1.4 Instanton homology

We denote by \mathcal{J} the collection of all smooth *t*-depending ω -calibrated almost complex structures J such that

J(t, u) = i for |u| large and $t \in S^1$.

 ω -calibrated means that

$$g_J(t, u)$$
 $(h, k) := \omega(h, J(t, u) k)$

defines a $(t \in S^1)$ -depending Riemannian metric on \mathbb{C}^n which is standard outside of a compact set.

For $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and $J \in \mathscr{J}$ consider the partial differential equation with asymptotic boundary conditions $(\nabla_J H$ is the gradient for the second variable for the inner product $g_J(t, u) = \omega \circ (\operatorname{Id} \times J(t, u))$

(10)
$$u_{s} - J(t, u) u_{t} - (\nabla_{J}H)(t, u) = 0$$
$$u : \mathbb{R} \times S^{1} \to \mathbb{C}^{n}$$
$$u(s, *) \to x^{\pm} \quad \text{as} \quad s \to \pm \infty ,$$

where $x^{\pm} \in \mathscr{P}_{H}$ and the limits are in the C^{1} -sense ($\Rightarrow C^{\infty}$ sense via elliptic regularity theory, see [33]). The solutions of (10) can be considered as zeroes of a smooth nonlinear Fredholm map $\partial_{H,J}: \mathscr{B}^{1,p}(x^{-}, x^{+}) \rightarrow L^{p}(Z, \mathbb{C}^{n})$ for some p > 2, see the later chapters. The Fredholm index satisfies, [15, 34, 38, 39, 40]

Theorem 3 For every zero u of $\partial_{H,J}$ the linearization $\partial'_{H,J}(u)$: $H^{1,p}(Z, \mathbb{C}^n) \to L^p(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$ has the Fredholm index

$$\operatorname{Ind}(\partial'_{H,J}(u)) = \operatorname{Ind}(x^-, H) - \operatorname{Ind}(x^+, H)$$
.

Given $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and $J \in \mathscr{J}$ it is shown in Sect. 3 that for every multi index α there exists a constant c_{α} such that for every pair $(x^{-}, x^{+}) \in \mathscr{P}_{H} \times \mathscr{P}_{H}$ a solution of (10) satisfies

(11)
$$|(D^{\alpha}u)(s,t)| \leq c_{\alpha} \quad \text{for all} \quad (s,t) \in \mathbb{Z} .$$

Moreover, in Sect. 5 it is proved that given $J \in \mathcal{J}$ there exists a \tilde{J} arbitrarily close to J in C^{∞} , and identically equal "i" outside some compact set such that the operators $\partial_{H,\tilde{J}}$ have 0 as a regular value. Consequently for such a regular $\tilde{J} \in \mathcal{J}_{reg}$ (H), $H \in \mathcal{H}_{reg}$ the solution set of (10) has a structure of a finite-dimensional manifold. We denote this manifold for $H \in \mathcal{H}_{reg}$ and $J \in \mathcal{J}_{reg}(H)$ and $x^-, x^+ \in \mathcal{P}_H$ by $\mathcal{M}(x^-, x^+; H, J)$. In view of Theorem 3 we have

(12)
$$\dim \mathcal{M}(x^-, x^+; H, J) = \operatorname{Ind}(x^-, H) - \operatorname{Ind}(x^+, H) .$$

Moreover all those manifolds are orientable. Using the so-called glueing construction, see [17, 19, 34], there is a natural way to produce an orientation of $\mathcal{M}(x, z; H, J)$, provided one is given for $\mathcal{M}(x, y; H, J)$ and $\mathcal{M}(y, z; H, J)$. This is related to the fact that given a trajectory in $\mathcal{M}(x, y) := \mathcal{M}(x, y; H, J)$ and one in $\mathcal{M}(y, z)$ there exists one geometrically close to its union which lies in $\mathcal{M}(x, z)$ and can be found by an implicit function theorem. A choice of orientation compatible with the above natural procedure is called a coherent orientation, see [21], and Sect. 5 of this paper.

Now following [16, 19], we define for $a \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ the graded free Abelian group

(13)
$$C^{a}(H, J) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} C^{a}_{k}$$
$$C^{a}_{k} = \bigoplus \mathbb{Z} x$$

where the sum in the second line is taken over all $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$ satisfying $\Phi_H(x) < a$ and $\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) = k$. Here

$$\Phi_H(x) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^2 \langle -i\dot{x}, x \rangle \, dx - \int_0^1 H(t, x(t)) dt \; .$$

Next we define a group homomorphism $\partial: C_k^a \to C_{k-1}^a$ by

(14)
$$\partial x = \sum \tau(x, y) y ,$$

where the sum is taken over all those $y \in \mathscr{P}_H$ satisfying $\operatorname{Ind}(y, H) = \operatorname{Ind}(x, H) - 1$. Here $\tau(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}$ is obtained as follows. We consider for $y \in \mathscr{P}_H$ as above the 1-dimensional (perhaps empty) manifold $\mathscr{M}(x, y; H, J)$ which carries an orientation (coming from the choice of a coherent orientation). All orbits in $\mathscr{M}(x, y; H, J)$ are isolated and $\mathcal{M}(x, y; H, J)$ decomposes into several components of the type $\{\rho * u \mid \rho \in \mathbb{R}\}$, where

$$(\rho \ast u)(s,t) = u(s+\rho,t)$$

is the natural **R**-action. Each component of the form $\{\rho * u \mid \rho \in \mathbb{R}\}$ has two orientations, namely o(u) from the coherent orientation, see Sect. 4, and the orientation given by $[u_s]$, with $u_s = \frac{\partial u}{\partial s}$. We define $\tau(u) \in \{1, -1\}$ by

(15)
$$o(u) = \tau(u) [u_s]$$

and put

(16)
$$\tau(x, y) = \sum \tau(u) \, ,$$

where the sum is taken over all points in the reduced connecting orbit space

$$\mathcal{M}(x, y; H, J) := \mathcal{M}(x, y; H, J)/\mathbb{R}$$

where we divide by the R-action. The crucial result proved in [16, 17, 19] is

Theorem 4 $\partial^2 = 0.$

Let us denote by \mathscr{N} the product $\mathscr{H} \times \mathscr{J}$ and by \mathscr{N}_{reg} the subset consisting of all pairs $(H, J) \in \mathscr{N}$ such that the associated first order elliptic partial differential equation of type (10) can be formulated as the problem of finding zeroes for a regular Fredholm section. In particular $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and $J \in \mathscr{J}_{reg}(H)$. For $(H, J) \in \mathscr{N}_{reg}$ and $-\infty < a \leq b \leq +\infty$ we define

(17)
$$C_*^{[a,b]}(H,J) := C_*^b(H,J)/C_*^a(H,J)$$

with the induced boundary operator ∂ and put

(18)
$$S^{[a,b]}(H,J) = \operatorname{kern}(\partial_k)/\operatorname{Im}(\partial_{k+1})$$

with $\partial_k: C_k^{(a,b)} \to \mathbb{C}_{k-1}^{(a,b)}$. Moreover we put

(19)
$$S_*^{[a,b)}(H,J) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} S_k^{[a,b)}(H,J)$$

1.5 Monotonicity

Consider $(K, \tilde{J}), (H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$. We define a partial ordering by

(20)
$$(H, J) \leq (K, \tilde{J}) : \Leftrightarrow H(t, x) \leq K(t, x)$$

for all $t \in S^1$ and $x \in \mathbb{C}^n$. A monotone homotopy between pairs (H, J) and (K, \tilde{J}) in \mathcal{N}_{reg} is a pair (L, \hat{J}) consisting of a smooth map $L: \mathbb{R} \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and a smooth map $(s, t, u) \to \hat{J}(s, t, u)$, where $\hat{J}(s, t, u)$ is an ω -calibrated complex multiplication on \mathbb{C}^n such that for suitable $s_0 > 0$, R > 0

(21) $\hat{J}(s, t, u) = i \quad \text{for } |u| \ge R$ $\hat{J}(s, t, u) = J(s, u) \quad \text{for } s \le -s_0$ $\hat{J}(s, t, u) = \tilde{J}(s, u) \quad \text{for } s \ge s_0.$

Moreover

(22)

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s, t, u) \ge 0$$

$$L(s, t, u) = H(t, u) \quad \text{for } s \le -s_0$$

$$L(s, t, u) = K(t, u) \quad \text{for } s \ge s_0 .$$

Further there exists a smooth map $\mathbb{R} \to \mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^n): s \to A(s)$ associating to $s \in \mathbb{R}$ a $\langle *, * \rangle$ -positive definite matrix such that

(23)

$$A(s) = A(-s_0) \quad \text{for } s \leq -s_0$$

$$A(s) = A(s_0) \quad \text{for } s \geq s_0$$

$$\frac{d}{ds}A(s) \geq 0$$

and the following is satisfied

(24) If the linear Hamiltonian system
$$-i\dot{x} = A(\hat{s})x$$
 on $(0, 1)$ has
a nontrivial solution satisfying $x(0) = x(1)$ for some
 $\hat{s} \in \mathbb{R}$ then $\frac{d}{ds}A(s)\Big|_{s=s}$ is positive definite.

Finally all these data are required to satisfy the estimates

(25)
$$|L'(s, t, u) - A(s)u| |u|^{-1} \to 0$$
$$\left| \frac{\partial}{\partial s} L'(s, t, u) - \frac{d}{ds} A(s)u \right| |u|^{-1} \to 0$$

uniformly in (s, t) as $|u| \rightarrow +\infty$ and there exists a constant c > 0 such that

(26)
$$\left|\frac{\partial}{\partial t}L'(s,t,u)\right| \leq c(1+|u|)$$
$$|L''(s,t,u)h| \leq c|h|$$

for all $(s, t, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n$ and $h \in \mathbb{C}^n$.

Given such a monotone homotopy (L, \hat{J}) between $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ and $(K, \tilde{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ with $H \leq K$ we consider the partial differential equation

(27)
$$u_{s} - \hat{J}(s, t, u)u_{t} - (\nabla_{j}L)(s, t, u) = 0$$
$$u(s, *) \rightarrow x \in \mathscr{P}_{H} \quad \text{as } s \rightarrow -\infty$$
$$u(s, *) \rightarrow x \in \mathscr{P}_{K} \quad \text{as } s \rightarrow +\infty .$$

Again it is shown that there is a C^{∞} - apriori estimate for solutions of (27) independent of the choices of $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$ and $y \in \mathscr{P}_K$. Further it is shown that there are always generic monotone homotopies so that the solutions of (27) can be considered as regular zeroes of some nonlinear Fredholm operator. The combinatorics of the solutions of (27) can be used to construct natural homomorphisms

(28)
$$S_{*}^{[a,b]}(H,J) \to S_{*}^{[a,b]}(K,J)$$

which are independent (!) of the chosen generic monotone homotopy (see the later sections).

1.6 Symplectic homology

By the preceding results we have for numbers $-\infty < a \leq b \leq +\infty$ constructed a functor $S^{[a,b]}$ from the partially ordered set $(\mathcal{N}_{reg}, \leq)$, viewed as a category, into the category of graded Abelian groups.

Next assume $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is a given bounded open set. Denote by $\mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ the collection of all pairs $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ satisfying

$$H \mid (S^1 \times \overline{U}) < 0.$$

It will be shown later that for $(H, J), (K, \tilde{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ one can construct an $(A, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ satisfying

(30)
$$(H, J) \leq (A, \hat{J})$$
$$(K, \tilde{J}) \leq (A, \hat{J}) .$$

In other words $\mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ is a directed set. Associated to this directed set we have the functor obtained by restriction

(31)
$$(\mathscr{N}_{reg}(U), \leq) \xrightarrow{S^{(c,b)}} \mathscr{G}Ab$$

Here $\mathscr{G}Ab$ is the category of graded Abelian groups. We define the symplectic homology (with coefficient in \mathbb{Z}) of an open bounded set $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ by

(32)
$$S_*^{[a,b)}(U) = \lim S_*^{[a,b)}(H,J) ,$$

where the direct limit is taken over $\mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$.

We should note that we could tensorize the chain complex in (13) by any Abelian group G first, before we carry out the previous construction. This would lead to symplectic homology with coefficients in G.

 $S^{(a,b)}_{*}(U)$ measures symplectic properties of U as a subset of \mathbb{C}^n . We denote by \mathcal{D} the compactly supported symplectic diffeomorphism group in \mathbb{C}^n . Given $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ and $\Psi \in \mathcal{D}$ we define a pair $(H_{\Psi}, J_{\Psi}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\Psi(U))$

(33)
$$H_{\Psi}(t, u) = H(t, \Psi^{-1}(u))$$
$$J_{\Psi}(t, u) = T\Psi(\Psi^{-1}(u)) J(t, \Psi^{-1}(u)) T\Psi^{-1}(u) .$$

If u solves the partial differential equation associated to (H, J) then $\Psi(u)$ solves the partial differential equation associated to (H_{Ψ}, J_{Ψ}) . We note that Ψ induces via (37) a bijection

$$\mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{reg}}(U) \to \mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{reg}}(\Psi(U))$$

Obviously it follows immediately that Ψ induces an isomorphism

(34)
$$\Psi_{\#} \colon S^{(a,b)}_{\ast}(U) \xrightarrow{\sim} S^{(a,b)}_{\ast}(\Psi(U)) .$$

If $U \subset V$ are both bounded open subsets then

$$\mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{reg}}(V) \subset \mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{reg}}(U)$$
.

This gives a natural map called monotonicity morphism

$$S^{[a,b)}_{*}(V) \xrightarrow{mm} S^{[a,b)}_{*}(U)$$

Next assume $\Psi \in \mathscr{D}$ and U, V are bounded open subsets of \mathbb{C}^n such that $\Psi(U) \subset V$. We define a group homomorphism Ψ^* : $S^{[a,b]}_*(V) \longrightarrow S^{[a,b]}_*(U)$ by the factorization



The previous construction of $S_*^{[a,b]}$ and Ψ^* turns out to have many useful properties. For example

Theorem 5 Assume $\Psi_s(U) \subset V$ for $s \in [0, 1]$ where U and V are bounded open sets in \mathbb{C}^n and $s \to \Psi_s$ is a smooth arc in \mathcal{D} . Then the map

$$s \rightarrow \Psi_s^* \in \operatorname{mor}\left(S_*^{[a, b]}(V), S_*^{[a, b]}(U)\right)$$

is constant.

This property will be referred to as isotopy invariance.

Next assume a triplet of numbers is given, such that $-\infty < a \leq b \leq c \leq +\infty$. We have an obvious exact triangle $\hat{\Delta}_{a,b,c}(H,J)$ for every $(H,J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$, induced by the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow C^{[a,b]}(H,J) \longrightarrow C^{[a,c]}(H,J) \longrightarrow C^{[b,c]}(H,J) \longrightarrow 0$$

This gives an exact triangle $\Delta_{a,b,c}$ of symplectic homology groups.

Theorem 6 Given an open bounded subset U of \mathbb{C}^n we have an associated triangle $\Delta_{a,b,c}(U)$ for numbers $-\infty < a \leq b \leq c \leq +\infty$, namely



(37)

Moreover a $\Psi \in \mathscr{D}$ with $\Psi(U) \subset V$ induces a map $\Psi^*: \Delta_{a,b,c}(V) \to \Delta_{a,b,c}(U)$.

Next we observe that for numbers $-\infty < a \le b \le +\infty$, and $-\infty < a' \le b' \le +\infty$ with $a \le a'$, $b \le b'$, and $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ we have a natural morphism

(38)
$$C^{[a,b]}_{*}(H,J) \to C^{[a',b']}_{*}(H,J)$$

inducing natural maps. In fact

Theorem 7 Let $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be an open bounded set and let $-\infty < a \leq b \leq c \leq +\infty$, $-\infty < a' \leq b' \leq c' \leq +\infty$ be numbers satisfying

$$-a \leq a', b \leq b', c \leq c'$$
.

Then there exists a natural homomorphism

(39)
$$\Delta_{a,b,c}(U) \to \Delta_{a',b',c'}(U) .$$

It turns out that for $\Psi(U) \subset V$, $\Psi \in \mathcal{D}$ the following diagram commutes

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Delta_{a,b,c}(V) & \xrightarrow{\psi^*} & \Delta_{a,b,c}(U) \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \Delta_{a',b',c'}(V) & \xrightarrow{\psi^*} & \Delta_{a',b',c'}(U) \end{array}$$

All the previous properties will be proved in the following. In this paper we shall not give any application, but refer the reader to the forthcoming papers [24, 25]. In [24] we compute the symplectic homology of some simple shapes and prove the conjecture of M. Gromov concerning the symplectic classification of open polydisks. Moreover we study the space of symplectic embeddings of one polydisc into another. In [22] we generalize the present results to more general symplectic stability of the action spectrum, a problem which has to be seen in relation to the "theme" what does the interior of a symplectic manifold know about its boundary, see also [12, 13, 14].

2 Apriori estimates

2.1 A version of the maximum principle

Let $Z = \mathbb{R} \times S^1$ and assume $\alpha: Z \to \mathbb{R}$ is a smooth map. Given $\delta > 0$ we denote by Γ_{δ} the set of all bi-infinite sequences $(s_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ satisfying

$$(40) 0 < s_{k+1} - s_k \leq \delta$$

 $s_k \to \pm \infty$ as $k \to \pm \infty$.

Given $s = (s_k) \in \Gamma_{\delta}$ we define

(41)
$$[\alpha]^s := \sup\{\alpha(s_k, t) \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}, t \in S^1\}$$

and put

(42)
$$[\alpha]_{\delta} := \inf\{[\alpha]^s \mid s \in \Gamma_{\delta}\}$$

Clearly $[\alpha]_{\delta} \in (-\infty, +\infty]$.

Proposition 8 Assume constants $a, b, \lambda \ge 0$ and $\delta > 0$ are given such that

$$\delta^2 \lambda < \pi^2$$
.

Then there exists a constant $C = C(a, b, \lambda, \delta) > 0$ such that every smooth map $\alpha: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}$ with

$$-\Delta \alpha - \lambda \alpha \leq a \quad on \quad Z$$
$$[\alpha]_{\delta} < b$$

satisfies

 $\sup \{\alpha(s,t) \mid (s,t) \in Z\} \leq C.$

Proof. Let
$$\Omega := (x, y) \times S^1$$
 with $-\infty < x < y < +\infty$ and $y - x \le \delta$. Then
 $\gamma_1 := \pi^2 (y - x)^{-2}$

is the smallest eigenvalue of the eigenvalue problem

$$-\Delta u = \gamma u$$
 on Ω , $u = 0$ on $\partial \Omega$

with associated eigenfunction $u(s, t) = \sin((s-x)(y-x)^{-1}\pi)$. By assumption

$$\lambda < \pi^2 \delta^{-2} \leq \pi^2 (y - x)^{-2}$$

Let $s = (s_k) \subset \Gamma_{\delta}$ be a sequence satisfying

$$\sup\{\alpha(s_k, t) \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}, t \in S^1\} < b$$

and put $x = s_k$ and $y = s_{k+1}$. Then with $\Omega = (x, y) \times S^1$ we have

 $(43) \qquad -\Delta\alpha - \lambda\alpha \leq a \quad \text{on } \Omega$

 $\alpha < b$ on $\partial \Omega$.

As a consequence of the classical Krein-Rutmann result, see [1], the maximum principle is valid for (43) provided $\lambda < \gamma_1 = \gamma_1(\Omega)$. If

$$-\varDelta\beta - \lambda\beta = a \quad \text{on } \Omega$$
$$\beta = b \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega$$

then $\alpha \leq \beta$ on $\overline{\Omega}$ and β is clearly independent of the *t*-variable in S^1 . Consequently it satisfies

$$-\beta'' - \lambda\beta = a \quad \text{on } (x, y)$$
$$\beta(x) = \beta(y) = b .$$

With $\sigma := (y - x)\delta^{-1} \in (0, 1]$, assuming without loss of generality that x = 0 we define

$$\beta(s) = \beta(\sigma s)$$

Then

$$-\hat{\beta}'' - \sigma^2 \lambda \hat{\beta} = \sigma^2 a \quad \text{on } (0, \delta)$$
$$\hat{\beta}(0) = \hat{\beta}(\delta) = b \; .$$

If $\tilde{\beta}$ solves

$$-\tilde{\beta}^{\prime\prime} - \lambda \tilde{\beta} = a \quad \text{on } (0, \delta)$$
$$\tilde{\beta}(0) = \tilde{\beta}(\delta) = 0$$

we deduce $\tilde{\beta} \ge 0$ since $\lambda < \frac{\pi^2}{\delta^2}$. Moreover $\hat{\beta} \ge 0$. Hence on $(0, \delta)$

$$-\hat{\beta}^{\prime\prime}-\delta\hat{\beta} \leq -\hat{\beta}^{\prime\prime}-\lambda\sigma^{2}\hat{\beta}=\sigma^{2}a \leq a= -\tilde{\beta}^{\prime\prime}-\lambda\hat{\beta}$$

and $\hat{\beta} = \tilde{\beta}$ on $\{0, \delta\}$. This implies $\hat{\beta} \leq \tilde{\beta}$. Consequently

$$\sup_{(s,t)\in\bar{\Omega}} \alpha(s,t) \leq \sup_{s\in[x,y]} \hat{\beta}(s) \leq \sup_{s\in[x,y]} \tilde{\beta}(s) =: C(a,b,\delta,\lambda) .$$

Since k was arbitrarily chosen we infer

$$\sup \alpha(Z) \leq C(a, b, \delta, \lambda) . \qquad \Box$$

2.2 Variational estimates

Assume L: $\mathbb{R} \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is smooth and satisfies

(44)
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s, t, u) \ge 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \mathbb{R} \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n$$

and

(45)
$$|L'(s, t, u)| \leq c(1 + |u|)$$
 on $\mathbb{R} \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n$.

Moreover we assume that there exists a suitable $s_0 > 0$ such that

(46)
$$H(t, u) = L(s, t, u) \text{ for } s \leq -s_0$$
$$K(t, u) = L(s, t, u) \text{ for } s \leq s_0 ,$$

where $H, K \in \mathcal{H}$. Further \hat{J} is a (s, t)-depending ω -calibrated almost complex structure satisfying

(47)

$$\begin{aligned}
\hat{J}(s, t, u) &= i & \text{for } |u| \text{ large} \\
\hat{J}(s, t, u) &= J(t, u) & \text{for } s \leq -s_0 \\
\hat{J}(s, t, u) &= \tilde{J}(t, u) & \text{for } s \geq s_0 .
\end{aligned}$$

Now consider a smooth solution $u: \mathbb{R} \times S^1 \rightarrow \mathbb{C}^n$ of

(48)
$$u_s - \hat{J}(s, t, u) \ u_t - (\nabla_j L)(s, t, u) = 0$$

We have

Lemma 9 Let \hat{J} and L be as described above. Then there exist real constants $-\infty < c_1 \leq c_2 < +\infty$ such that every solution $u: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}^n$ of (48) satisfying

(49)
$$\inf_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) > -\infty, \quad \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) < +\infty$$

fulfills

(50)
$$\Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) \in [c_1, c_2] \quad \text{for all } s \in \mathbb{R} .$$

Here u(s)(t) := u(s, t) and for a smooth loop $x: S^1 \rightarrow \mathbb{C}^n$

(51)
$$\Phi_{L(s)}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \langle -i\dot{x}, x \rangle dt - \int_{0}^{1} L(s, t, x(t)) dt$$

Proof. We compute

$$\frac{d}{ds} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) = - \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial L}{\partial s} (s, t, u(s, t)) dt - \| \Phi'_{L(s)}(u(s)) \|_{s, u(s)}^{2}.$$

Here for a smooth loop x and $s \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\|h\|_{s,x}^2 = \int_0^1 g_j(s, t, x(t))(h(t), h(t))dt .$$

By our assumption on \hat{J} this is equivalent to the usual L^2 -norm, where the equivalence is uniform in x and s. By assumption the map $s \rightarrow \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s))$ is

decreasing. Hence

$$\lim_{s \to -\infty} \Phi_H(u(s)) = \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s))$$
$$\lim_{s \to +\infty} \Phi_K(u(s)) = \inf_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) .$$

By assumption we find a sequence $s_k \rightarrow +\infty$ such that for the usual L^2 -gradient and $x_k = u(s_k)$ we have

$$\|\Phi'_K(x_k)\|_{L^2} \to 0 \ .$$

Here let Φ'_{K} denote the usual L^{2} -gradient. If $(||x_{k}||_{L^{2}})$ is bounded we infer from (52) that $(||x_{k}||_{H^{1,2}})$ is bounded, which immediately implies via (52) that (x_{k}) is precompact in $H^{1,2}(S^{1}, \mathbb{C}^{n})$. Hence without loss of generality we may assume $x_{k} \rightarrow x$ in $H^{1,2}(S^{1}, \mathbb{C}^{n})$, where x solves

(53)
$$\dot{x} = X_{K_t}(x), \quad x(0) = x(1)$$

For solutions of (53) we have a C^{∞} -apriori estimate from which we can obtain c_2 . Similarly one constructs c_1 by studying $(u(s_k))$ for a suitable sequence $s_k \to -\infty$. So arguing indirectly let us assume that $||x_k||_{L^2} \to \infty$ (which we may after taking a subsequence). Define $v_k = x_k/||x_k||_{L^2}$ and $\lambda_k = ||x_k||_{L^2}$. Then

$$-i\frac{d}{dt}v_k - \frac{1}{\lambda_k}K'(t,\lambda_k v_k) \rightarrow 0$$
 in L^2 .

If K' is asymptotic to the positive definite matrix B we infer immediately that after taking a subsequence v_k converges in $H^{1,2}$ to some v with $||v||_{L^2} = 1$ satisfying

(54)
$$-i\dot{v} = Bv$$
 with $v(0) = v(1)$.

By our assumption of (7) the only solution of (54) is $v \equiv 0$ contradicting $||v||_{L^2} = 1$. Now define

$$c_1 = \inf \{ \Phi_K(x) \mid d\Phi_K(x) = 0 \}$$

$$c_2 = \sup \{ \Phi_H(x) \mid d\Phi_H(x) = 0 \}.$$

Then $-\infty < c_1 \leq c_2 < +\infty$ by construction and $\Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) \in [c_1, c_2]$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

In order to obtain some sharper estimates we impose some more hypothesis on L. Assume L and J satisfy (44)-(47). Moreover suppose there exists a smooth arc $s \to A(s)$ of positive definite matrices $A(s) \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ satisfying

(55)
$$A(s) = A(-s_0) \text{ for } s \leq -s_0$$
$$A(s) = A(s_0) \text{ for } s \geq s_0$$
$$\frac{\partial A}{\partial s}(s) \geq 0 \text{ on } \mathbb{R} .$$

Further A is assumed to satisfy the following "regularity" requirement

(56) If the linear Hamiltonian system
$$-i\dot{x} = A(\hat{s})x$$
 on (0, 1)
has a nontrivial 1-periodic solution for some
 $\hat{s} \in \mathbb{R}$ then $\frac{d}{ds}A(s)\Big|_{s=\hat{s}}$ is positive definite.

Finally the data A and L is related by the following requirement

(57)
$$|L'(s, t, u) - A(s)u||u|^{-1} \to 0$$

$$\left|\frac{\partial}{\partial s}L'(s,t,u)-\frac{d}{ds}A(s)u\right||u|^{-1}\to 0$$

uniformly in $(s, t) \in \mathbb{R} \times S^1$ as $|u| \to +\infty$.

Lemma 10 Assume L, \hat{J} and A satisfy (44)–(47), and (55)–(57). Then for a given constant c > 0 there exists a constant d > 0 such that

(58)
$$\| \varPhi'_{L(s)}(x) \|_{s,x}^2 + \int_0^1 \frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s,t,x(t)) dt \leq c$$

for a number $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and a loop $x \in H^{1,2}(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$ implies

$$\|x\|_{H^{1,2}} \leq d$$

Proof. Without loss of generality we may assume that $\| \|_{s,x}$ is replaced by the usual L^2 -norm and $\Phi'_{L(s)}$ denotes the usual L^2 -gradient. (Here we use the properties of \hat{J} .) Since $\Phi_{L(s)}$ is independent of $s \in \mathbb{R}$ for $s \leq -s_0$ and $s \geq s_0$ we may assume arguing indirectly that there exist sequences $(s_k) \subset \mathbb{R}$, $(x_k) \subset H^{1,2}(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$ satisfying

(59)
$$s_k \to s_0, \quad ||x_k||_{L^2} \to +\infty$$
$$||\Phi'_{L(s_k)}(x_k)||_{L^2} \leq c, \quad \int_0^1 \frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s_k, t, x_k(t))dt \leq c.$$

Observe for (59) that the boundedness of $(||x_k||_{L^2})$ immediately implies a $H^{1,2}$ bound in view of the properties of L and $||\Phi'_{L(s_k)}(x_k)||_{L^2} \leq c$. Now we define $v_k = x_k/||x_k||_{L^2}$ and argue as in Lemma a to find a subsequence of (v_k) converging in $H^{1,2}$ to some v satisfying

(60)
$$-i\dot{v} = A(s_0)v$$
 on (0, 1)
 $v(0) = v(1)$
 $\|v\|_{L^2} = 1$.

Hence we must have $\left(\frac{d}{ds}A\right)(s_0) \ge \varepsilon \text{Id for a suitable } \varepsilon > 0$. By assumption we have

(61)
$$c \geq \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s_{k}, t, x_{k}(t)) dt .$$

Moreover we compute

(62)
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s, t, u) = \int_{0}^{1} \left\langle \frac{\partial L'}{\partial s}(s, t, \gamma u), u \right\rangle d\gamma + \frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s, t, o)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \left\langle \frac{\partial L'}{\partial s}(s, t, \gamma u) - \frac{dA}{ds}(s)\gamma u, u \right\rangle d\gamma$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \frac{dA}{ds}(s)u, u \right\rangle + \frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s, t, o) .$$

For every $\tau > 0$ there exists a constant $c_{\tau} > 0$ such that

(63)
$$\left\|\frac{\partial L'}{\partial s}(s, t, \gamma u) - \frac{d}{ds}A(s)(\gamma u)\right\| \leq \tau |\gamma u| + c_{\tau}$$

for all (s, t, u) and γ . This implies for k large enough

$$c \ge \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial L}{\partial s} (s_{k}, t, x_{k}(t)) dt$$

$$\ge \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \|x_{k}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \tau \|x_{k}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - c_{\tau} \|x_{k}\|_{L^{2}} - \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial L}{\partial s} (s, t, o) dt$$

$$\ge \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{4} - \frac{\tau}{2}\right) \|x_{k}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - c_{\tau} \|x_{k}\|_{L^{2}} - \hat{c} .$$

Taking $\tau = \frac{\varepsilon}{4}$ we obtain a L²-bound on (x_k) contradicting the fact that

 $\|x_k\|_{L^2} \rightarrow +\infty$.

This completes the proof of Lemma 10.

Proposition 11 Assume L, \hat{J} and A are as described above (see Lemma 10). Given $\delta > 0$ there exists a constant $c_{\delta} \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for every solution of (48) satisfying

(64)
$$-\infty < \inf_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s), \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) < +\infty$$

we have

$$[|u|]_{\delta} \leq c_{\delta} .$$

Proof. From Lemma 9 we know the existence of numbers $-\infty < c_1 \leq c_2 < +\infty$ such that $\Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) \in [c_1, c_2]$. Hence for every pair of numbers $-\infty < a \leq b < +\infty$

(66)
$$\int_{a}^{b} \left[\| \Phi'_{L(s)}(u(s)) \|_{s, u(s)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s, t, u(s, t)) dt \right] ds$$
$$\leq c_{2} - c_{1} =: \bar{c} .$$

Define $\hat{s}_k = k \frac{\delta}{4}$ and put $\tau = \frac{1}{16} \delta$. Then using (66) we find $s_k \in [\hat{s}_k - \tau, \hat{s}_k + \tau]$ such that $x_k = u(s_k)$ satisfies

$$\|\Phi'_{L(s_k)}(x_k)\|_{s_k,x_k}^2 + \int_0^1 \frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s_k,t,x_k(t)dt \le 8\bar{c}\delta^{-1}.$$

In view of Lemma 10 we find a constant $\tilde{d}(\delta)$ such that $||x_k||_{H^{1,2}} \leq \tilde{d}(\delta)$. Using the compact embedding $H^{1,2}(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n) \subseteq C^0(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$ we find a constant c_{δ} such that

$$\|x_k\|_{C^0} \leq c_\delta \; .$$

Now observe that $\frac{1}{8}\delta \leq s_{k+1} - s_k \leq \frac{6}{16}\delta$. Hence

$$[|u|]_{\delta} \leq c_{\delta} . \qquad \Box$$

2.3 $A C^{0}$ -estimate

Our aim is to derive a C^0 -estimate for solutions of

$$u_{s} - \hat{J}(s, t, u) u_{t} - (\nabla_{\hat{J}} L)(s, t, u) = 0$$
$$u: Z \rightarrow \mathbb{C}^{n}$$

under suitable assumptions on \hat{J} , L and u. We list our assumptions. \hat{J} is a $(s, t) \in \mathbb{R} \times S^1$ -depending smooth ω -calibrated almost complex structure such that

(68)
$$\hat{J}(s, t, u) = i \text{ for } |u| \text{ large}$$

uniformly in (s, t) and

(69)
$$\hat{J}(s, t, u) = \hat{J}(s_0, t, u) \quad \text{for } s \ge s_0$$
$$\hat{J}(s, t, u) = \hat{J}(-s_0, t, u) \quad \text{for } s \le -s_0 .$$

Moreover

(70)
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s, t, u) \ge 0$$
$$H(t, u) = L(s, t, u) \quad \text{for } s \le -s_0$$
$$K(t, u) = L(s, t, u) \quad \text{for } s \ge s_0 .$$

There exists a regular arc $s \rightarrow A(s)$ as described in (55) and (56) such that

(71) $|L'(s, t, u) - A(s)u||u|^{-1} \rightarrow 0$

$$\left|\frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s,t,u) - \frac{d}{ds}A(s)u\right| |u|^{-1} \to 0$$

uniformly in (s, t) as $|u| \rightarrow +\infty$. Moreover we have the estimates

(72)
$$\left|\frac{\partial}{\partial t}L'(s,t,u)\right| \leq c(1+|u|)$$
$$|L''(s,t,u)h| \leq c|h|$$

for all $(s, t, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n$ and $h \in \mathbb{C}^n$.

Our main result in this section is

Theorem 12 Assuming (68)–(72) there exists a constant $d := d(L, \hat{J}) > 0$ such that every solution u of

$$u_s - \hat{J}(s, t, u)u_t - (\nabla_j L)(s, t, u) = 0$$

with

$$\inf_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) > -\infty, \quad \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) < +\infty$$

satisfies

$$\sup_{(s,t)\in Z}|u(s,t)|\leq d.$$

Proof. Pick a smooth map $\varphi: \mathbb{R} \rightarrow [0, +\infty)$ satisfying

$$\varphi(s) = 0$$
 for $s \le R^2 + 1$
 $\varphi''(s) > 0$ for $R^2 + 1 < s < R^2 + 2$
 $\varphi'(s) = 1$ for $s \ge R^2 + 2$.

We find a constant $c_1 > 0$ such that

(73)
$$\varphi'(s)s \leq \varphi(s) + c_1 \quad \text{for all } s \in \mathbb{R}$$
.

Define $\alpha(s, t) = \varphi(|u(s, t)|^2)$ for $(s, t) \in \mathbb{Z}$ and let

$$\Gamma = \{ (s, t) \in Z \mid |u(s, t)| > R \} .$$

On Γ we have for a solution u of (21)

$$u_s - iu_t + L'(s, t, u) = 0$$

Hence (74)

$$u_{ss} - iu_{st} - \frac{\partial}{\partial s}L'(s, t, u) - L''(s, t, u)u_s = 0$$

$$iu_{st} + u_{tt} - i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}L'(s, t, u) - iL''(s, t, u)u_t = 0.$$

Adding up the two equations in (74) gives on Γ the estimate

$$|\Delta u| \le c_2(1+|u|+|u_t|+|u_s|)$$

for a suitable constant $c_2 > 0$ independent of u. Hence we have on Z for a suitable constant $c_3 > 0$

$$\begin{split} |\varphi'(|u|^2) \langle u, \Delta u \rangle | \\ &\leq \varphi'(|u|^2) (c_2 (1 + |u| + |u_s| + |u_t|)) |u| \\ &\leq \varphi'(|u|^2) (c_3 (1 + |u|^2) + |\nabla u|^2) \; . \end{split}$$

Using (73) gives on Z

(75)
$$|\varphi'(|u|^2)\langle u, \Delta u \rangle| \leq c_3 \alpha + c_3 c_1 + c_3 + \varphi'(|u|^2) |\nabla u|^2 .$$

Next we compute

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \alpha &= 4\varphi''(|u|^2)(\langle u, u_s \rangle^2 + \langle u, u_t \rangle^2) + 2\varphi'(|u|^2)|\nabla u|^2 + 2\varphi'(|u|^2)\langle u, \Delta u \rangle \\ &\geq 2\varphi'(|u|^2)|\nabla u|^2 - 2\varphi'(|u|^2)|\nabla u|^2 - 2c_3\alpha - 2(c_3c_1 + c_3) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Hence for $a := 2(c_3c_1 + c_3)$, a constant only depending on L and \hat{J} we infer

(76)
$$-\Delta\alpha - 2c_3\alpha \leq a \quad \text{on } Z ,$$

where $2c_3$ is also a constant only depending on L and \hat{J} . Let $\delta > 0$ be so small that

(77)
$$2c_3 < \pi^2 \delta^{-2}$$
.

In view of Proposition 11 we find a constant c_{δ} such that

$$[|u|]_{\delta} \leq c_{\delta}$$

for every solution u satisfying the hypotheses. This gives a constant b > 0 such that

(79)
$$[\varphi(|u|^2)]_{\delta} \leq b$$

for every such *u*. Now we apply Proposition 8 and find a constant $c = c(a, b, 2c_3, \delta) > 0$ only depending therefore on *L* and \hat{J} s.t.

$$\sup_{(s,t)\in Z}\varphi(|u(s,t)|^2)\leq c$$

Hence for a suitable d > 0

 $\sup_{(s,t)\in Z}|u(s,t)|\leq d$

as required.

The previous method of obtaining C^0 -bounds in a noncompact symplectic manifold has many more applications, [6]. We thank K. Cieliebak for many stimulating discussions.

2.4 C^{∞} -estimates

This section is quite standard provided one has the C^0 -estimates from the previous section. We include it for the convenience of the reader and allow ourselves to be somewhat sketchy. The key point is a bubbling off analysis going back in the harmonic map case to Sacks and Uhlenbeck, [37], and in the pseudoholomorphic curve case to Gromov, [26].

We consider the partial differential equation

(80)
$$u_s - \hat{J}(s, t, u)u_t - (\nabla_{\hat{J}}L)(s, t, u) = 0,$$

where \hat{J} and L are as described in the previous section. In view of theorem we find a constant d > 0 such that for every solution of (80) satisfying

(81)
$$\inf_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) > -\infty, \quad \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) < +\infty$$

we have the C^0 -estimate

(82)
$$\sup \{|u(s,t)| | (s,t) \in Z\} \leq d.$$

The crucial estimate for finding uniform C^{∞} -estimates is a uniform estimate for $|\nabla u|$. We need the following useful topological lemma from [30].

Lemma 13 Let (X, d) be a metric space. Equivalent are the following statements.

- i) (X, d) is complete
- ii) For every continuous map $\phi: X \to [0, +\infty)$, a given point $x \in X$ and a number $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist $x' \in X$ and $\varepsilon' > 0$ such that
 - (a) $\varepsilon' \leq \varepsilon$ and $\phi(x')\varepsilon' \geq \phi(x)\varepsilon$
 - (b) $d(x, x') \leq 2\varepsilon$
 - (c) $2\phi(x') \ge \phi(y)$ for all $y \in X$ with $d(y, x) \le \varepsilon'$.

The main result of this section is

Theorem 14 There exists a constant $\hat{d} > 0$ such that for every solution of (80) satisfying (81) we have

$$|\nabla u(s, t)| \leq \hat{d}$$
 for $(s, t) \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. Arguing indirectly we find a sequence $(z_k) = ((s_k, t_k))$ and a sequence (u_k) such that u_k solves (80) and (81) and

$$(83) |u_k(s_k, t_k)| \to +\infty .$$

We know from Theorem 12 that

$$|u_k(s, t)| \leq d \quad \text{for } (s, t) \in \mathbb{Z}$$

and from Lemma 9

(85)
$$\Phi_{L(s)}(u_k(s)) \in [c_1, c_2] \quad \text{for } s \in \mathbb{R} .$$

From (85) we deduce for every solution of (80), (81)

(86)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \int_{0}^{1} g_{j}(s, t, u(s, t)) (u_{s}(s, t), u_{s}(s, t)) ds dt \leq c_{2} - c_{1} .$$

From this we deduce using the properties of \hat{J}

(87)
$$\int_{Z} |u_s|^2 \, ds \, dt \leq \bar{c}$$

for a suitable constant $\tilde{c} > 0$ independent of *u*. Choose a sequence $(\varepsilon_k) \subset (0, +\infty)$ satisfying

(88)
$$\varepsilon_k \to 0, \quad \varepsilon_k |\nabla u_k(s_k, t_k)| \to +\infty$$

In view of the topological Lemma 13 we may slightly modify the data and may therefore assume in addition

$$(89) \qquad |\nabla u_k(s,t)| \leq 2|\nabla u_k(s_k,t_k)|$$

for all $(s, t) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ with $|(s, t) - (s_k, t_k)| \leq \varepsilon_k$, where we consider u_k periodically extended over \mathbb{R}^2 in the second variable. Now we define

$$v_k(s, t) = u_k((s_k, t_k) + \lambda_k^{-1}(s, t))$$
$$\lambda_k = |\nabla u_k(s_k, t_k)| .$$

We define $R_k = \varepsilon_k \lambda_k$ and observe that $R_k \rightarrow +\infty$. Then for $|(s, t)| \leq R_k$

(90)
$$|\nabla v_k(s,t)| = \lambda_k^{-1} |(\nabla u_k)((s_k + \lambda_k^{-1}s), (t_k + \lambda_k^{-1}t))| \le 2\lambda_k^{-1}\lambda_k = 2.$$

Moreover for k large enough

(91)
$$\int_{B_{R_k}} \left| \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s} v_k \right)(s, t) \right|^2 ds dt \leq \bar{c} \; .$$

Further

(92)
$$0 = \frac{\partial}{\partial s} v_k - \hat{J}(s_k + \lambda_k^{-1}s, t_k + \lambda_k^{-1}t, v_k) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v_k - \lambda_k^{-1} (\nabla_j L)(s_k + \lambda_k^{-1}s, t_k + \lambda_k^{-1}t, v_k) .$$

Without loss of generality we may assume $t_k \rightarrow t_0$. Since \hat{J} is independent of s for large |s| we may also assume that in the \hat{J} expression $s_k \rightarrow s_0$ for some $s_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, as well as $t_k \rightarrow t_0$. Using the gradient bound in (90) it follows from standard linear theory (and a perturbation argument) that (v_k) is C_{loc}^{∞} -bounded. Hence after taking a subsequence we may assume

(93)

$$v_k \rightarrow v \quad \text{in } C_{\text{loc}}^{\infty}$$

 $|\nabla v(0, 0)| = 1$
 $|\nabla v(s, t)| \leq 2 \quad \text{for } (s, t) \in \mathbb{R} \oplus \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{C}$
 $|v(s, t)| \leq d \quad \text{for } (s, t) \in \mathbb{R} \oplus \mathbb{R}$

and

(94)
$$v_s - J(s_0, t_0, v) v_t = 0$$
 on \mathbb{R}^2

Now (91) implies that in addition to (93) and (94)

(95)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |v_s|^2 ds dt < \infty$$

In view of (94) and (95) a removable singularity theorem applies, see [26]. Hence we obtain a smooth map $v: S^2 \to \mathbb{C}^n$, $S^2 = \mathbb{C} \cup \{+\infty\}$, which is nonconstant and satisfies

$$(Tv)i = -\hat{J}(s_0, t_0, v) Tv$$
 on S^2

Since $\omega \circ (\mathrm{Id} \times \hat{J}(s_0, t_0, *) =: g$ defines a Riemannian metric we infer that $0 > \int_{S^2} v^* \omega$. On the other hand by Stokes' theorem for a suitable 1-form λ

$$\int_{S^2} v^* \omega = \int_{S^2} d(v^* \lambda) = \int_{\emptyset} v^* \lambda = 0$$

This contradiction proves our assertion.

Rudimentary linear theory gives now using Theorem 14, - see [17, 19, 28] -

Theorem 15 Under our standing assumption there exists for every multiindex α a number $d_{\alpha} > 0$ such that for every solution $u: Z \rightarrow \mathbb{C}^n$ of (80) satisfying (81) the following holds

$$|(D^{\alpha}u)(s,t)| \leq d_{\alpha} \text{ for all } (s,t) \in \mathbb{Z}$$

3 Transversality and compactness

3.1 Regular Hamiltonians

Recall that the set of Hamiltonians \mathscr{H} consists of all smooth maps $H: S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ having the following properties:

$$(96) H \mid (S^1 \times \bar{U}) < 0$$

for some open set $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. Moreover there exists a $\langle *, * \rangle$ -positive definite matrix A such that

(97)
$$|H'(t, u) - Au| |u|^{-1} \rightarrow 0 \quad \text{as } |u| \rightarrow +\infty$$

uniformly for $t \in S^1$ and

(98)
$$|H''(t, u)h| \leq c(h)$$
$$\left|\frac{\partial}{\partial t}H(t, u)\right| \leq c(1 + |u|)$$

for a suitable constant c > 0 and $(t, u) \in S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n$ and $h \in \mathbb{C}^n$. Further the matrix A is required to satisfy

(99) The ordinary differential equation
$$-i\dot{v} = Av$$
 on $(0, 1)$ has no nontrivial solution satisfying $v(0) = v(1)$.

As a corollary of Lemma 10 we have

Lemma 16 Given $H \in \mathcal{H}$ there exists a constant c(H) > 0 such that every 1-periodic solution of $\dot{x} = X_{H_t}(x)$ satisfies $|x(t)| \leq c(H)$ for $t \in S^1$.

Following a construction already used in [17] we denote by $C_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}(S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n, \mathbb{R})$ the Banach space of all smooth maps $\Delta: S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

(100)
$$\|\Delta\|_{\varepsilon} := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_k \|h\|_{C^k(S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n, \mathbb{R})} < \infty .$$

Here $\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_k)$ is a sequence of positive numbers and

$$\|h\|_{C^k(S^1\times\mathbb{C}^n,\mathbb{R})}=\sum_{|\alpha|\leq k}\sup_{(t,u)}\left(D^{\alpha}h(t,u)\right).$$

If (ε_k) converges sufficiently fast to zero the space consisting of all restrictions of maps u in C_{ε}^{∞} to a ball B_R is dense in $L^2(B_R)$, see [17].

Now let $\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_k)$ be a sufficiently fast decreasing sequence. If $H_0 \in \mathscr{H}$ and $\Delta \in C_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}$ then $H_0 + \Delta \in \mathscr{H}$.

Proposition 17 There exists for given $H_0 \in \mathscr{H}$ a residual set $\Gamma \subset C_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}$ such that for every $H \in H_0 + \Gamma$ all 1-periodic solutions are nondegenerate, i.e. H is regular.

Proof. Consider the separable Banach space

$$\mathscr{B} := H^{1,2}(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n) \times C^{\infty}_{\varepsilon}(S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n, \mathbb{R}) .$$

We define

$$\Sigma := \{ (x, \Delta) \mid \dot{x} = X_{H_{o,t}} + X_{\Delta_t}(x) \}$$

and

$$F: \mathscr{B} \to L^2(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$$

$$F(x, \Delta) = -\dot{x} + X_{H_{o,t}}(x) + X_{\Delta_t}(x) .$$

Then for fixed $\Delta \in C_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}$, the map $F(*, \Delta)$ is a nonlinear proper Fredholm operator of index zero. Using the density assertion for C_{ε}^{∞} it is an easy exercise to show that

 $DF(x, \Delta) : \mathscr{B} \to L^2(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$ is onto for every choice $(x, \Delta) \in \mathscr{B}$. Moreover for $(x, \Delta) \in \Sigma$ the kernel Kern $(DF(x, \Delta))$ splits. Therefore Σ is a smooth submanifold of \mathscr{B} . The projection map $\pi: \Sigma \to C_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}: (x, \Delta) \to \Delta$ is a smooth nonlinear Fredholm map of index zero. Using the Sard-Smale-theorem there exists a residual set Γ of regular values for π . Trivially for $\Delta \in \Gamma$ the map $H_o + \Delta$ is regular.

Assume $\Delta_k \in \Gamma$ such that $\|\Delta_k\|_{\epsilon} \to 0$. Then there exists c > 0 such that for every 1-periodic solution of some $\dot{x} = X_{H_{o,t}}(x) + X_{\Delta_{k,t}}(x)$ we have $|x(t)| \leq c$ for all $t \in S^1$. Using this fact we have the following corollary:

Corollary 18 Given $H_o \in \mathscr{H}$ there exists a constant c > 0 and a sequence $(\Delta_k) \subset C_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}$ with $\operatorname{supp}(\Delta_k) \subset S^1 \times B_c$ such that $\|\Delta_k\|_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ and $H_o + \Delta_k$ is regular for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

For the following we introduce the space \mathscr{H}_{reg} by

Definition 19 \mathscr{H}_{reg} is the subset of \mathscr{H} consisting of all regular Hamiltonians. In view of Corollary 18 \mathscr{H}_{reg} is dense for the strong C^{∞} -Whitney topology.

3.2 Regular trajectory spaces

Assume $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$. We study for given $J \in \mathscr{J}$ the partial differential equation

$$u_{s} - J(t, u)u_{t} - (\nabla_{J}H)(t, u) = 0$$
$$u: Z \to \mathbb{C}^{n}$$
$$u(s) \to x^{\pm} \quad \text{as } s \to \pm \infty$$

where $x^{\pm} \in \mathscr{P}_{H} = \{x \mid x \text{ is a 1-periodic solution of } \dot{x} = X_{H_{i}}(x)\}$. For p > 2 we define $\mathscr{B}^{1, p}(x^{-}, x^{+})$ by

$$\mathscr{B}^{1, p}(x^{-}, x^{+}) := u_0 + W^{1, p}(Z, \mathbb{C}^n),$$

where $u_0: Z \to \mathbb{C}^n$ is a smooth map satisfying

$$u_0(s, t) = x^-(t) \text{ for } s \leq -s_0$$
$$u_0(s, t) = x^+(t) \text{ for } s \geq s_0$$

for a suitable s_0 . Then we define $\partial_{H,J}: \mathscr{B}^{1,p}(x^-, x^+) \to L^p(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$ by

$$(\partial_{H,J} u)(s,t) = u_s(s,t) - J(t, u(s,t)) u_t(s,t) - (\nabla_J H)(t, u(s,t))$$

From results in [15, 17, 18], see also [34, 38], we know that $\partial_{H,J}$ is a smooth Fredholm operator, where the index is given by the difference of the Conley–Zehnder index of the periodic orbits x^- , x^+ . This we will explain later.

Our aim is to show that for given $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ a generic choice of J will result in the fact that for all pairs (x^-, x^+) zero will be a regular value for $\partial_{H,J}$.

Consider the manifold \mathscr{E} consisting of all real linear $j: \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ such that $\omega \circ (\operatorname{Id} \times j) = g_j$ is a Riemannian metric and $j^2 = -1$. Let $j_0 \in \mathscr{E}$ and denote by \mathscr{S}_{j_0} the set of all \mathbb{R} -linear maps $\phi: \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ such that

(101)
$$\omega(\phi h, k) + \omega(h, \phi k) = 0$$

$$i_0\phi+\phi j_0=0.$$

Then \mathscr{G}_{j_0} is a vector subspace of $\mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ and for $\phi \in \mathscr{G}_{j_0}$ the map

(102)
$$j = j_0 \exp\left(-j_0\phi\right)$$

belongs to \mathscr{E} . In fact for every *j* close to j_0 we have the representation (102) for some ϕ close to zero.

Now let $J \in \mathcal{J}$ be given. Then J(t, u) is smoothly depending on (t, u) and J(t, u) = i for |u| large. Assume $X: S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ is a smooth map with compact support such that |X(t, u)| is small and

$$\omega(X(t, u)h, k) + \omega(h, X(t, u)k) = 0$$
$$J(t, u)X(t, u) + X(t, u)J(t, u) = 0.$$

Then $\tilde{J}(t, u) = J(t, u) \exp(-J(t, u)X(t, u))$ will be a new structure in \mathscr{J} . Again we choose a quickly decreasing sequence $\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_k)$ of positive numbers and define for given R > 0 the Banach space $\mathscr{S}^J_{\varepsilon}(R)$, consisting of all smooth X as above with X(t, u) = 0 for all $t \in S^1$ and $|u| \ge R$ with

$$\|X\|_{\varepsilon} := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_k \|X\|_{C^k} < + \infty .$$

We denote by $U^J_{\delta}(R)$ for $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small the set of all \tilde{J} defined by

 $\tilde{J}(t, u) = J(t, u) \exp(-J(t, u)X(t, u)) ,$

where $||X||_{\varepsilon} \leq \delta$ and X(t, u) = 0 for $|u| \geq R$. U_{δ}^{J} is an open subset of a Banach manifold. It has been proved in [23]

Theorem 20 Let $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and $J \in \mathscr{J}$. Let R > 0 such that

$$|x(t)| \leq R - 1$$
 for all $t \in S^1$

for every $x \in \mathcal{P}_H$. For $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small put $U := U^J_{\delta}(\mathbf{R})$ as defined above. Then there exists a residual set $\Gamma \subset U$ such that for every $\tilde{J} \in \Gamma$ the operator $\partial_{H,J} : \mathscr{B}^{1,p}(x^-, x^+) \to L^p(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$ for p > 2 has zero as a regular value for every choice $x^-, x^+ \in \mathcal{P}_H$.

For the next result let $J \in \mathcal{J}$ and $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$. For $x \in \mathcal{P}_H$ we consider

$$gr(x) = \{(t, x(t)) \mid t \in S^1\}$$
.

For $\tau > 0$ let $U_{\tau}(x)$ be the τ -neighbourhood of gr(x) in $S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n$. For $\tau > 0$ sufficiently small we have $\overline{U}_{\tau}(x) \cap \overline{U}_{\tau}(g) = \phi$ for $x \neq y$, $x, y \in \mathscr{P}_H$. Let $U_{\tau}(H) = \bigcup_{x \in \mathscr{P}_H} U_{\tau}(x)$.

Consider the Banach space

$$C^{\infty}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\tau}(H), \mathbb{R}) = \left\{ \varDelta \in C^{\infty}_{\varepsilon}(S^{1} \times \mathbb{C}^{n}, \mathbb{R}) \mid \varDelta \mid U_{\tau}(H) \equiv 0, \\ \operatorname{supp}(\varDelta) \subset S^{1} \times B^{2n}(R) \right\}.$$

Let R > 0 be chosen in such a way that $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$ satisfies the apriori estimate $|x(t)| \leq R - 1$. We find a $\delta > 0$ such that $||\Delta||_{\varepsilon} \leq \delta$ and $\Delta \in C_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}(U_{\tau}(H), \mathbb{R})$ implies that $\mathscr{P}_{H+\Delta} = \mathscr{P}_H$.

Denote by \mathscr{V}_{δ} the open δ -neighbourhood in $C^{\infty}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\tau}(H), R)$ of zero. We have

Theorem 21 Let $J \in \mathcal{J}$, $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$, R > 0, and \mathscr{V}_{δ} be as described above. Then there exists a residual subset $\Gamma \subset \mathscr{V}_{\delta}$ such that for every $\Delta \in \Gamma$ the pair $(H + \Delta, J)$ is regular, i.e. belongs to \mathscr{N}_{reg} .

Theorem 21 is proved with the help of 3.1 in [23] in [40] for a related case.

Summing up there is a plentiful supply of data in \mathcal{N}_{reg} for which we have the following theorem.

Theorem 22 Given any regular pair $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ and $x^-, x^+ \in \mathcal{P}_H$ the set $\mathcal{M}(x^-, x^+, H, J)$ defined by

$$\mathcal{M}(x^-, x^+, H, J) = \{ u: Z \to \mathbb{C}^n \mid u(s, *) \to x^{\pm} \text{ as } s \to \pm \infty$$

in $C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$ and $u_s - J(t, u)u_t - (\nabla H)(t, u) = 0 \}$

carries in a natural way the structure of a finite dimensional manifold induced from $\mathscr{B}^{1,p}(x^-, x^+)$, p > 2. This structure does not depend on the choice of p by elliptic regularity theory. Moreover

$$\dim \mathcal{M}(x^-, x^+; H, J) = \operatorname{Ind}(x^-, H) - \operatorname{Ind}(x^+, H) .$$

3.3 Monotone homotopies

Let (H, J) and (K, \tilde{J}) be elements of \mathcal{N}_{reg} . We define a partial ordering by

(103)
$$(H, J) \leq (K, J): \Leftrightarrow H(t, x) \leq K(t, x) \text{ for all } (t, x) \in S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n$$
.

Given two pairs satisfying (103) we call a pair (L, \hat{J}) a monotone homotopy between (H, J) and (U, J) provided L: $R \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a smooth map satisfying for suitable $s_0 > 0$

(104)
$$L(s, t, u) = H(t, u) \text{ for } s \leq -s_0$$
$$L(s, t, u) = K(t, u) \text{ for } s \geq s_0$$
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(s, t, u) \geq 0 \qquad \text{ for all } (s, t, u)$$

Moreover there exists a smooth map $A: \mathbb{R} \to \mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ associating to a number s a positive definite (for $\langle *, * \rangle$) matrix satisfying

(105) If
$$-i\dot{x} = A(\hat{s})x$$
 and $x(0) = x(1)$ for some non zero x and $\hat{s} \in \mathbb{R}$ then $\frac{d}{ds}A(s)\Big|_{s=\hat{s}}$ is positive definite.

Further the data A and L satisfies

(106)
$$|L'(s, t, u) - A(s)u| |u|^{-1} \to 0 \text{ uniformly as } |u| \to +\infty$$
$$\left| \frac{\partial}{\partial s} L'(s, t, u) - \frac{d}{ds} A(s)u \right| |u|^{-1} \to 0 \text{ uniformly as } |u| \to +\infty$$
$$\left| \frac{\partial}{\partial t} L'(s, t, u) \right| \leq c(1 + |u|)$$
$$|L''(s, t, u)h| \leq c|h|$$

for all (s, t, u) and h. Moreover the map $(s, t, u) \rightarrow \hat{J}(s, t, u)$ associating to $(s, t, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n$ a ω -calibrated structure is smooth and satisfies

(107)
$$\hat{J}(s, t, u) = i \quad \text{for } |u| \text{ large}$$
$$\hat{J}(s, t, u) = J(t, u) \quad \text{for } s \leq -s_0$$
$$\hat{J}(s, t, u) = \hat{J}(t, u) \quad \text{for } s \geq s_0 .$$

In view of Sect. 2 the solutions of the partial differential equation associated to (L, \hat{J}) , see the introduction, satisfies a uniform C^{∞} -bound.

Similarly to Theorem 20 we have the following transversality theorem which is in fact somewhat easier.

Theorem 23 Given a monotone homotopy (L, \hat{J}) there exist constants R > 0, $s_0 > 0$, and a sequence (\hat{J}_k) with

(108)

$$\begin{aligned}
\hat{J}_{k}(s, t, u) &= i & \text{for } |u| \geq R \\
\hat{J}_{k}(s, t, u) &= J(t, u) & \text{for } s \leq -s_{0} \\
\hat{J}_{k}(s, t, u) &= \tilde{J}(t, u) & \text{for } s \geq s_{0}
\end{aligned}$$

with

$$\hat{J}_k \rightarrow J$$
 in C^{∞}

and (L, \hat{J}_k) is regular for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Regular of course means that the first order elliptic operator $\partial_{(H,\hat{J}_k)}$ has zero as a regular value for every choice of asymptotic boundary conditions $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$, $y \in \mathscr{P}_K$. We denote by $\mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; K, \tilde{J})$ (for $(H, J), (K, \tilde{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ and $(H, J) \leq (K, \tilde{J})$) the set of regular monotone homotopies between the two pairs.

We note that we could also formulate a stronger version of Theorem 23 similar to 24. Namely there exists a neighbourhood $U(\hat{J})$ containing a residual set Γ such that $(L, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; \tilde{J})$ for $\hat{L} \in \Gamma$.

Similar as in Subsect. 3.2 we arrive at

Theorem 24 Given $(L, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; K, \tilde{J})$ there exists for given $x \in \mathcal{P}_H$ and $y \in \mathcal{P}_K$ a natural finite dimensional manifold

$$\mathcal{M}(x, y; L, J) = \{u: Z \to \mathbb{C}^n \mid u \text{ is smooth } u(s, *) \to x \text{ as } s \to -\infty$$
$$u(s, *) \to y \text{ as } s \to +\infty \text{ in } C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$$
$$and \ u_s - \hat{J}(s, t, u) u_t - (\nabla_J L) \ (s, t, u) = 0\}$$

Moreover

$$\dim \mathcal{M}(x, y; L, J) = \mathrm{Ind}(x, H) - \mathrm{Ind}(y, K)$$

and necessarily if $\mathcal{M}(x, y, L, \hat{J}) \neq \phi$ the inequalities

$$\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) \ge \operatorname{Ind}(y, K), \quad \Phi_H(x) \ge \Phi_K(y)$$

hold.

3.4 Compactness

Let $(H, J) \in \mathscr{N}_{reg}$ and consider $\mathscr{M}(x^-, x^+; H, J)$ for a choice of $x^-, x^+ \in \mathscr{P}_H$. We assume that

(109)
$$0 \leq \operatorname{Ind}(x^{-}, H) - \operatorname{Ind}(x^{+}, H) \leq 2.$$

Hence $\mathcal{M} := \mathcal{M}(x^-, x^+; H, J)$ (assuming $\mathcal{M} \neq \phi$) is a manifold of dimension 0, 1 or 2. We have a natural **R**-action on \mathcal{M} defined by

(110)
$$(\rho * u)(s, t) = u(s + \rho, t)$$

for $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $u \in \mathcal{M}$. If $x^- = x^+$ the space \mathcal{M} consists precisely of the point $[(s, t) \to x^-(t)]$ and \mathbb{R} acts trivially. If $x^- \neq x^+$ then the \mathbb{R} -action is free and the quotient space $\hat{\mathcal{M}} = \mathcal{M}/\mathbb{R}$ has dimension one less than \mathcal{M} :

(111)
$$\dim(\mathcal{M}) = \dim(\hat{\mathcal{M}}) + 1 \quad \text{if } \dim(\mathcal{M}) \ge 1.$$

Having the C^{∞} -bounds from Sect. 2 the analysis in [16, 17, 19], see also [34, 38], leads to the following conclusion.

Theorem 25 Let $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$. If dim $\mathcal{M} = 1$ then $\hat{\mathcal{M}}$ is a compact manifold, i.e. consists of finitely many points.

Next consider the case dim $\mathcal{M} = 2$. Then $\hat{\mathcal{M}}$ is 1-dimensional and decomposes into components either diffeomorphic to S^1 or (0, 1). The crucial point is to understand the meaning of its ends in geometrical terms. This has been analysed in [16, 17, 19]. We follow the description in [34]. (We oppress the data $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ in the notation.)

Theorem 26 Let $x, y, z \in \mathscr{P}_H$ with $\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) = \operatorname{Ind}(y, H) + 1 = \operatorname{Ind}(z, H) + 2$. Then there exists a local diffeomorphism # from an open subset \mathcal{O} of $\widehat{\mathscr{M}}(x, y) \times \widehat{\mathscr{M}}(y, z) \times \mathbb{R}$ into $\widehat{\mathscr{M}}(x, z)$ such that

- i) Given a compact subset K of $\hat{\mathcal{M}}(x, y) \times \hat{\mathcal{M}}(y, z)$ there exists a number $\sigma(K)$ such that $K \times [\sigma(K), \infty) \subset \mathcal{O}$
- ii) There are lifts

$$\#_1, \#_2: \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{M}(x, z)$$

such that for every pair $(u_1, u_2) \in \mathcal{M}(x, y) \times \mathcal{M}(y, z)$ with $\Phi_H(u_1(0)) = \frac{1}{2}(\Phi_H(x) + \Phi_H(y))$ and $\Phi_H(u_2(0)) = \frac{1}{2}(\Phi_H(y) + \Phi_H(z))$ the maps $\#_i(\hat{u}_1, \hat{u}_2, \rho)$ converge in C^{∞}_{loc} to u_i as $\rho \to +\infty$. (Here \hat{u} is the element in $\hat{\mathcal{M}}$ corresponding to u in \mathcal{M}).

iii) Let $\hat{\mathcal{M}} = \bigcup \hat{\mathcal{M}}(x, y)$, where the union is taken over all pairs $(x, y) \in \mathcal{P}_H \times \mathcal{P}_H$ satisfying $\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) - \operatorname{Ind}(y, H) = 2$. Let $\hat{\mathcal{O}} \subset \hat{\mathcal{M}}$ be the image of all maps # as constructed above. Then $\hat{\mathcal{M}} \setminus \hat{\mathcal{O}}$ is compact.

Geometrically Theorem 26 identifies the ends of the components in $\hat{\mathcal{M}}(x, z)$ diffeomorphic to (0, 1) with broken trajectories from x to z "factorizing" over y. We have the following figure explaining this.



The maps # are not natural, however given orientations of $\hat{\mathcal{M}}(x, y)$, $\hat{\mathcal{M}}(y, z)$ they induce a natural orientation of $\mathcal{M}(x, z)$ which is not depending on the choice of # as long as # is obtained from the glueing procedure as explained in [17, 19].

In order to obtain symplectic homology with arbitrary coefficients we have to orient the $\mathcal{M}(x, y)$'s so that the orientations are preserved and compatible with the glueing procedure. This is done in the next section.

4 Symplectic homology

4.1 Coherent orientations

Let $(L, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}((H, J); (K, \tilde{J}))$. Note that this includes the special case $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$. For $x \in \mathcal{P}_H$ and $y \in \mathcal{P}_K$ and p > 2 we consider the previously introduced Fredholm map

$$\partial_{L,\hat{J}}: \mathscr{B}^{1,p}(x,y) \to L^p(Z,\mathbb{C}^n)$$
,

where the space $\mathscr{B}^{1,p}$ has been previously constructed. If $u \in \mathscr{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})$ denote by

$$\partial'_{L,\hat{J}}(u): H^{1,p}(Z,\mathbb{C}^n) \to L^p(Z,\mathbb{C}^n)$$

the linearization at u. Since $(L, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ the linearization is a surjection and the tangent space of $\mathcal{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})$ at u is precisely the kernel of $\partial'_{L, \hat{J}}(u)$, i.e.

 $T_u \mathcal{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J}) = \{u\} \times \operatorname{kern}(\partial'_{L, \hat{J}}(u))$.

For a finite dimensional \mathbb{R} -vectorspace E let $\wedge^{\max}E := E \wedge \ldots \wedge E$ (dim E-times) with the convention $\wedge^{\max}\{0\} = \mathbb{R}$. With the definition of the determinant of a Fredholm map, see [22], we have

Det
$$(\hat{\partial}'_{L, \hat{j}}(u))$$

$$:= (\wedge^{\max} \operatorname{kern}(\hat{\partial}'_{L, \hat{j}}(u))) \otimes (\wedge^{\max} \operatorname{cokern}(\hat{\partial}'_{L, \hat{j}}(u)))^*$$

$$= (\wedge^{\max} \operatorname{kern}(\hat{\partial}'_{L, \hat{j}}(u)) \otimes \mathbb{R}^*$$

$$= (\wedge^{\max}(T_u \mathscr{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J}))) \otimes \mathbb{R}^*$$

$$\simeq \wedge^{\max} T_u \mathscr{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})).$$

Letting u vary over $\mathcal{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})$ we obtain the determinant bundle of the family of linear Fredholm operators $u \to \partial'_{L, \hat{J}}(u)$, which is isomorphic to the maximal wedge of the tangent bundle $T\mathcal{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})$. Hence an orientation of

$$\operatorname{Det}(\partial'_{L,\,\hat{J}}(*)) \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}(x,\,y;\ L,\,\hat{J})$$

is equivalent to an orientation of $\mathcal{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})$.

To recall the results in [21] (we note that we studied in [21] $\bar{\partial}$ -operators and here ∂ -operators, which of course does not make any difference) let us define the asymptotic operators of $\partial'_{L,j}(u)$. In order to simplify notation we put $T := \partial'_{L,j}(u)$. Then the asymptotic operators T^{\pm} are defined by

$$T^{\pm}: H^{1,2}(S^{1}, \mathbb{C}^{n}) \to L^{2}(S^{1}, \mathbb{C}^{n})$$
$$(T^{\pm}h)(t) = -\hat{J}(\pm \infty, t) h_{t}(t) - (D_{3}\hat{J}(\pm \infty, t, x^{\pm}(t)) h(t)) x_{t}^{\pm}(t)$$
$$- D_{3}(\nabla_{j}L)(\pm \infty, t, x^{\pm}(t)) h(t),$$

where $x^- = x$ and $x^+ = y$. The operators T^{\pm} are selfadjoint unbounded operators in $L^2(S^1, \mathbb{C}^n)$ for suitable L^2 -inner products. Namely

$$(h, k)^{\pm} = \int_{0}^{1} g_{j}(\pm \infty, t, x^{\pm}(t))(h(t), k(t))dt$$

The operators of "type" T belong to the class Σ introduced in [21]. To make this precise consider the two point compactification $\overline{\mathbb{R}} = \{-\infty\} \cup \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ equipped with the unique differentiable structure turning the homeomorphism

h:
$$\overline{\mathbb{R}} \rightarrow [-1, 1]$$

defined by

$$h(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \pm 1 & \text{for } s = \pm \infty \\ s(1+s^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}} & \text{for } s \in \mathbb{R} \end{bmatrix}$$

into a diffeomorphism. Let us put $\overline{Z} = \mathbb{R} \times S^1$. For J(z) being an ω -calibrated complex structure depending smoothly on $z \in \overline{Z}$ we have asymptotic structures $(J(\pm \infty, *))$ depending on $t \in S^1$. Associated to J there is an inner product $(*, *)_J$ on $L^2(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$ given by

(112)
$$(h, k)_J = \int_Z \omega \circ (h(s, t), J(s, t) \ k(s, t)) ds dt .$$

Moreover we have asymptotic inner products given by

(113)
$$(h,k)_J^{\pm} = \int_{S_1} \omega(h(t), J(\pm \infty, t) \ k(t)) dt .$$

 Σ consists now of all first order partial differential operators defined by

(114)
$$(Tu)(s,t) = u_s(s,t) - J(s,t) u_t(s,t) - A(s,t)u(s,t) ,$$

where $(s,t)\in \mathbb{Z}$. Here J is as described above and the map $\overline{Z}\ni(s,t)\to A(s,t)\in \mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ is smooth such that the asymptotic operators defined by

(115)
$$(T^{\pm}h)(t) = -J(\pm\infty,t)h_t(t) - A(\pm\infty,t)h(t)$$

satisfy

(116)
$$\ker(T^{\pm}) = \{0\}$$

$$(T^{\pm}h, k)_J^{\pm} = (h, T^{\pm}k)_J^{\pm}$$

and are selfadjoint operators in $L^2(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$ with domain $H^{1,2}(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$ (for the particular inner products). Here one should note that the operators $\partial'_{L,J}(u)$ introduced previously induce operators in $L^2(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$.

Fixing asymptotic operators α , β we consider the set $\theta_{\alpha,\beta}$ consisting of all operators T in Σ with $T^- = \alpha$, $T^+ = \beta$, equipped with the topology induced from $\mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(H^{1,2}(Z, \mathbb{C}^n), L^2(Z, \mathbb{C}^n))$. The natural determinant bundle over $\theta_{\alpha,\beta}$ (all T in $\theta_{\alpha,\beta}$ are Fredholm operators) is trivial and hence orientable, see [21] for more details.

Given asymptotic operators α , β , γ and having orientation for $Det(\theta_{\alpha,\beta})$ and $Det(\theta_{\beta,\gamma})$ there is a naturally induced orientation for $Det(\theta_{\alpha,\gamma})$ obtained by glueing, see [21]. Formally

(117)
$$o_{\alpha,\beta} \# o_{\beta,\gamma} = o_{\alpha,\gamma} \,.$$

A coherent orientation is a choice of orientation for every $\theta_{\alpha,\beta}$ such that the formula (117) holds for every triplet of asymptotic operators. Consider the group Γ consisting of all maps f associating to a pair (α, β) of asymptotic operators a number $f(\alpha, \beta) \in \{-1, 1\}$ such that

(118)
$$f(\alpha, \beta) f(\beta, \gamma) = f(\alpha, \gamma)$$

holds for all triplets (α, β, γ) . It has been shown that the group Γ acts freely and transitively on the set of coherent orientations by

$$(f\sigma)(\alpha,\beta) = f(\alpha,\beta)\sigma(\alpha,\beta),$$

where $\sigma(\alpha, \beta)$ is the (coherent) orientation for $\theta_{\alpha, \beta}$.

Having fixed a coherent orientation σ and taking a pair $(L, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; K\tilde{J})$ the manifold $\mathcal{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})$ for $x \in \mathcal{P}_H$, $y \in \mathcal{P}_K$ carries an orientation in view of the previous discussion.

First assume $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ is given and a coherent orientation σ . Let $x^{\pm} \in \mathscr{P}_H$ with $Ind(x^-, H) - Ind(x^+, H) = 1$. Then

$$\dim \hat{\mathscr{M}} (x^-, x^+; H, J) = 0$$
$$\# \hat{\mathscr{M}} (x^-, x^+, H, J) < \infty$$

For every $\hat{u} \in \hat{\mathcal{M}}(x^-, x^+; H, J)$ the corresponding component of $\mathcal{M}(x^-, x^+; H, J)$ is given by $\{\rho * u \mid \rho \in \mathbb{R}\}$ and carries the orientation $\sigma(u) = \sigma(x^-, x^+; H, J)$ and a natural orientation given by $\left[\frac{\partial u}{\partial s}\right]$. We define a number $\tau_{\sigma}(u) \in \mathbb{Z}$ by

(119)
$$\tau_{\sigma}(u) [u_s] = \sigma(u)$$

If we take the coherent orientations $f\sigma$ with $f \in \Gamma$ we have

$$\tau_{f\sigma}(u)[u_s] = f_u(x^-, x^+; H, J)\tau_\sigma(u)[u_s]$$

Hence

(120)
$$\tau_{f\sigma}(u) = f_u(x^-, x^+; H, J)\tau_{\sigma}(u) .$$

Moreover given $(L, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; K, \tilde{J})$ and $x \in \mathcal{P}_H$, $y \in \mathcal{P}_k$ with Ind(x, H) - Ind(y, K) = 0 the set of connecting trajectories is a compact 0-dimensional manifold, see [17, 19], and every $w \in \mathcal{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})$ carries an orientation $1 \otimes 1^*$ where $1^*(1) = 1$. We define a number $\tau(w) \in \{-1, 1\}$ by

(121)
$$\sigma(w) = \tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}(w) [1 \otimes 1^*] .$$

4.2 Construction of chain complexes

Let us assume $\hat{u} \in \hat{\mathcal{M}}(x, y; H, J)$ and $\hat{v} \in \hat{\mathcal{M}}(y, z; H, J)$ such that $\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) = \operatorname{Ind}(y, H) + 1 = \operatorname{Ind}(z, H) + 2$, where $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$. We have the associated

figure:



The glueing construction [17, 19], precisely explained in [34, 38], shows that the ends of $\hat{\mathcal{M}}(x, z)$ correspond bijectively to broken trajectories. This gives the following picture



The glueing construction shows immediately that the glued orientation for u, v, u', v' must be related as follows

(122)
$$[u_s] \# [v_s] = - [u'_s] \# [v'_s] .$$

For any coherent orientation σ we have

$$\sigma(u) \ \# \sigma(v) = \sigma(u') \ \# \sigma(v') \ .$$

Hence using the definition of τ_{σ} we obtain the formula

(123)
$$\tau_{\sigma}(u)\tau_{\sigma}(v) + \tau_{\sigma}(u') \tau_{\sigma}(v') = 0$$

Next assume $(L, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; K, \tilde{J})$ is given. Then let $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{P}_H, y_1, y_2 \in \mathcal{P}_K$ with

(124)
$$\operatorname{Ind}(x_i, H) = \operatorname{Ind}(y_i, K) \text{ for } i = 1, 2$$

 $\operatorname{Ind}(x_1, H) - \operatorname{Ind}(x_2, H) = 1$
 $\operatorname{Ind}(y_1, K) - \operatorname{Ind}(y_2, K) = 1.$

Again the ends of $\mathcal{M}(x_1, y_2; L, \hat{J})$ correspond to broken trajectories. See the picture



and

$$\sigma(w_1) \# \sigma(u') = \sigma(u) \# \sigma(w_2)$$

[1 \otimes 1^*] # [u'_s] = [u_s] # [1 \otimes 1^*].

Hence using the definition of τ_{σ} we obtain the formula

(125)
$$\tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}(w_{1}) \tau_{\sigma}(u') [1 \otimes 1^{*}] \# [u'_{s}] = \sigma(w_{1}) \# \sigma(u')$$
$$= \sigma(u) \# \sigma(w_{2})$$
$$= \tau_{\sigma}(u) \tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}(w_{2}) [u_{s}] \# [1 \otimes 1^{*}]$$
$$= \tau_{\sigma}(u) \tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}(w_{2}) [1 \otimes 1^{*}] \# [u'_{s}]$$

Hence

(126)
$$\tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}(w_1)\tau_{\sigma}(u') - \tau_{\sigma}(u) \ \tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}(w_2) = 0$$

Now let $a \in (-\infty, +\infty]$. We define for $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ the free Abelian group $C_k^{\alpha}(H, J)$ by

(127)
$$C_k^a(H,J) = \bigoplus \{ \mathbb{Z}x \mid x \in \mathscr{P}_H, \Phi_H(x) < a , \operatorname{Ind}(x,H) = k \}$$

and the graded Abelian group $C^a_*(H, J)$ by

(128)
$$C^a_*(H,J) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} C^a_k(H,J)$$

For a fixed coherent orientation σ we define a boundary operator ∂^{σ} by

(129)
$$\partial^{\sigma}: C^a_k(H, J) \to C^a_k(H, J)$$

$$\partial^{\sigma} x = \sum_{\operatorname{Ind}(y,H) = \operatorname{Ind}(x,H) - 1} \tau_{\sigma}(x,y) y ,$$

where

(130)
$$\tau_{\sigma}(x, y) := \sum_{\hat{u} \in \hat{\mathscr{M}}(x, y; H, J)} \tau_{\sigma}(u) \in \mathbb{Z} .$$

We observe that

(131)
$$\tau_{f\sigma}(x, y) = f(x, y; H, J) \tau_{\sigma}(x, y) ,$$

where $f(x, y) \in \{-1, 1\}$ and f(x, y) f(y, z) = f(x, z). (In fact $f \in \Gamma$, the precise notation should be $f(\alpha, \beta)$ where α is the asymptotic operator at x, etc.) Given different orientations we may apriori obtain different theories. To study this question let $\sigma' = f\sigma$. We write f in the form

(132)
$$f(\alpha, \beta) = \rho(\alpha) \rho(\beta),$$

where ρ is a function associating to an asymptotic operator a number in $\{-1, 1\}$. Given $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and $J \in \mathscr{J}$ we denote by $\alpha(x, H, J)$ the asymptotic operator determined by (H, J) over the periodic solution $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$. Having $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ fixed we shall often write $\alpha(x)$ instead of $\alpha(x, H, J)$. We observe that in (132) ρ is determined uniquely up to sign. Given a ρ as in (132) we define a map

$$\lambda_{\rho}: (C^{a}_{*}(H,J),\partial^{\sigma}) \rightarrow (C^{a}_{*}(H,J),\partial^{\sigma'})$$

by

(133)
$$x \to \rho(\alpha(x)) x$$

for $x \in \mathscr{P}_{H}$. We compute using (131) and the fact $f(x, y; H, J) = \rho(\alpha(x)) \rho(\alpha(y))$ with $\rho(x) := \rho(\alpha(x))$

(134)

$$\partial^{\sigma'} \lambda_{\rho}(x) = \sum_{y} \tau_{\sigma'}(x, y) \rho(x) y$$
$$= \sum_{y} \rho(x)^{2} \rho(y) \tau_{\sigma}(x, y) y$$
$$= \sum_{y} \rho(y) \tau_{\sigma}(x, y) y$$
$$= \lambda_{\rho} \partial^{\sigma}(x) .$$

Hence λ_{ρ} defines a chain isomorphism. Due to the ambiguity of the choice of the signs we have the situation

(135)
$$(C^a_*(H,J),\partial^{\sigma}) \rightrightarrows (C^a_*(H,J),\partial^{\sigma'})$$

saying that between two objects there are precisely two isomorphisms. The "double arrow" is natural. Of course what we would like to have is precisely one arrow between two different objects. In order to do so we have to construct in some sense a "double covering" of the category with different lifts for the two arrows.

In order to follow the above scheme we introduce the capped half cylinder $Z_c := D \cup ([0, +\infty) \times S^1)$, where $\partial D \cong S^1$ is identified with $S^1 \cong \{0\} \times S^1$. We equip Z_c with a complex structure denoted by *i* which on $[0, +\infty) \times S^1$ is precisely the one induced from Z, i.e. $\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \rightarrow \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \rightarrow -\frac{\partial}{\partial s}$, where (s, t) are the coordinates on $[0, +\infty) \times S^1$. We assume Z_c to be a C^∞ -manifold. We write $\overline{Z_c}$ for $Z_c \cup (\{+\infty\} \times S^1)$. For a ω -calibrated almost complex structure J for $\overline{Z_c} \times \mathbb{C}^n \rightarrow \overline{Z_c}$ we define a vectorbundle $X_J \rightarrow \overline{Z_c}$ as follows. The fibre over $z \in \overline{Z_c}$ consists of all real linear maps $\phi: T_z \overline{Z_c} \rightarrow \mathbb{C}^n$ such that

$$(136) J(z)\phi - \phi i = 0.$$

Hence $X_{J,z} \subset \mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(T_z \overline{Z}_c, \mathbb{C}^n)$. So we may assume X_J is a subbundle of $\mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(T\overline{Z}_c, \overline{Z}_c \times \mathbb{C}^n)$. X_J splits $\mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}$, where the splitting is smoothly depending on

 X_J (it is the canonical splitting into complex linear and complex antilinear maps.) We introduce the Hilbert spaces $H^{1,2}(Z_c \times \mathbb{C}^n)$ and $L^2(X_J)$ of sections in the obvious way. Observe that $L^2(X_J)$ is a subspace of $L^2(\mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(TZ_c, Z_c \times \mathbb{C}^n))$. We introduce a class Σ_c of linear operators L as follows. $L \in \mathscr{L}(H^{1,2}(Z_c \times \mathbb{C}^n),$ $L^2(\mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(TZ_c, Z_c \times \mathbb{C}^n)))$ is said to belong to Σ_c if there exists a J as above and a smooth section $A: \overline{Z}_c \to \mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^n, X_J)$ such that

$$(Lu)(z) = Tu(z) - J(z) Tu(z)i + A(z)u(z)$$

for $z \in Z_c$. Moreover over $Z_+ = [0, +\infty) \times S^1$ we have that

$$(Lu)(z)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\right) = \frac{\partial u}{\partial s}(s,t) - J(s,t)\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(s,t) - (A(s,t)u(s,t))\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\right)$$
$$= \frac{\partial u}{\partial s}(s,t) - J(s,t)\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(s,t) - \hat{A}(s,t)u(s,t)$$

is the restriction of an operator \tilde{L} of class Σ to Z_{\pm} . We have following [19]

Theorem 27 Every $L \in \Sigma_c$ is Fredholm. L has the asymptotic operator

$$h \rightarrow -J(+\infty, t) h(t) - \hat{A}(+\infty, t) h(t)$$
.

Having a fixed asymptotic operator α we denote by θ_{α}^{c} the collection of all those L and put on them the topology induced from $\mathscr{L}(H^{1,2}(Z_c \times \mathbb{C}^n), L^2(\mathscr{L}_{\mathbb{R}}(TZ_c, Z_c \times \mathbb{C}^n)))$. As in [21], one shows that θ_{α}^{c} is a contractable space. We denote by $o(\alpha)$ an orientation of the canonical determinant bundle over θ_{α}^{c} , see [21]. Using the glueing construction for linear operators as explained in [21], we have an almost natural procedure to glue an operator $L \in \theta_{\alpha}^{c}$ with an operator $T \in \theta_{\alpha,\beta}$ to obtain some operator $L \# T \in \theta_{\beta}^{c}$. Although the glueing is not naturally the orientation $o(\beta)$ induced from an orientation $o(\alpha)$ of θ_{α}^{c} and $o(\alpha, \beta)$ of $\theta_{\alpha,\beta}$ by the glueing construction does not depend on the glueing parameters.

Consider now pairs $(\sigma, \theta_{\alpha_0}^c)$ consisting of a coherent orientation σ and an oriented class of operators $\theta_{\alpha_0}^c$ with orientation $o(\alpha_0)$. Assume $(\sigma', \theta_{\alpha_0}^c)$ is a second such pair. σ and $o(\alpha_0)$ determine via glueing an orientation $\sigma(\alpha_0) \# \sigma(\alpha_0, \alpha'_0)$ of $\theta_{\alpha'_0}^c$. We have $f\sigma = \sigma'$ and choose a potential ρ for f according to the following requirements

$$o(\alpha'_0) = \rho(\alpha'_0) o(\alpha_0) \# \sigma(\alpha_0, \alpha'_0)$$
$$f(\alpha, \beta) = \rho(\alpha) \rho(\beta) .$$

We observe that ρ is uniquely determined by these requirements. Let us denote this ρ by $\rho_{(\sigma', \alpha'_0, \sigma, \alpha_0)}$. Assume a third pair is given, say (σ'', α''_0) . We have

$$o(\alpha_0'') = \psi(\alpha_0'')o(\alpha_0) \# \sigma(\alpha_0, \alpha_0'')$$

$$(gf)(\alpha, \beta) = \psi(\alpha)\psi(\beta)$$

with $\sigma'' = g\sigma'$, $\sigma' = f\sigma$. Then

$$\begin{split} o(\alpha_0'') &= \psi(\alpha_0'') \, o(\alpha_0) \, \# \, \sigma(\alpha_0, \alpha_0') \, \# \, \sigma(\alpha_0', \alpha_0'') \\ &= \psi(\alpha_0'') \, \rho(\alpha_0') o(\alpha_0') \, \# \, \sigma(\alpha_0', \alpha_0'') \; . \end{split}$$

If $\hat{\rho} = \rho_{(\sigma'', \alpha_0'; \sigma' = \alpha_0')}$, $\rho = \rho_{(\sigma', \alpha_0; \sigma, \alpha_0)}$ we deduce $\hat{\rho}(\alpha_0'')o(\alpha_0') \# \sigma'(\alpha_0', \alpha_0'') = \psi(\alpha_0'') \rho(\alpha_0') o(\alpha_0') \# \sigma(\alpha_0', \alpha_0'')$ $= \psi(\alpha_0'') \rho(\alpha_0')o(\alpha_0') \# (f(\alpha_0', \alpha_0'') \sigma'(\alpha_0', \alpha_0''))$.

Hence

$$\hat{\rho}(\alpha_0'') = \psi(\alpha_0'') \rho(\alpha_0') \rho(\alpha_0') \rho(\alpha_0'')$$

which is equivalent to

$$\psi(\alpha_0'') = \hat{\rho}(\alpha_0'') \,\rho(\alpha_0'') \,.$$

This implies immediately that

 $\rho \hat{\rho} = \psi$

or in other words

 $\rho_{(\sigma'',\alpha_0'';\ \sigma,\alpha_0)} = \rho_{(\sigma'',\alpha_0'';\ \sigma',\alpha_0')} \rho_{(\sigma',\alpha_0';\ \sigma,\alpha_0)} \,.$

Now we define for a pair (σ, α_0) the chain complex

$$C^a_{*}(H, J; (\sigma, \alpha_0)) := (C^a_{*}(H, J), \partial^{\sigma})$$

and between two different chain complexes a chain isomorphism $\lambda_{(\sigma', \alpha'_0; \sigma, \alpha_0)} := \lambda_{\rho(\sigma', \alpha'_0; \sigma, \alpha_0)}$ via the formula (133). Then

$$\lambda_{(\sigma', \alpha'_0; \sigma, \alpha_0)} \colon C^a_*(H, J; \sigma, \alpha_0) \to C^a_*(H, J, \sigma', \alpha'_0)$$

defines a connected simple system.

4.3 Monotonicity homotopies

In view of the naturality of the construction of the chain complexes in respect to the chosen data (σ, α_0) we may assume for the following that (σ, α_0) is fixed.

Suppose now $(H, J) \leq (K, \tilde{J})$ are both belonging to \mathcal{N}_{reg} and $(L, \hat{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; K, \tilde{J})$. For $a \in (-\infty, \infty]$ and dropping (σ, α_0) in our notation we obtain an induced chain map

$$\Psi_{(L,\hat{J})}: C^a_k(H,J) \longrightarrow C^a_k(K,\tilde{J})$$

via the formula

$$\Psi_{(L,\hat{J})}(x) = \sum_{\substack{y \in \mathscr{P}_{K} \\ \operatorname{Ind}(y, K) = \operatorname{Ind}(x, H) = k}} \tilde{\tau}(x, y) ,$$

where

$$\tilde{\tau}(x, y) := \tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}(x, y) = \sum \tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}(w)$$

with $\tilde{\tau}_{\sigma}$ defined in (121) and the sum being taken over all $w \in \mathcal{M}(x, y; L, \hat{J})$. In view of (126) $\Psi_{(L,\hat{J})}$ defines a chain homomorphism.

A crucial point we have to discuss is the following. Given another regular monotone homotopy the induced map is naturally chain homotopic. This will allow ourselves to regard C^a_* as a covariant functor associating to $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ a graded Abelian group and to an "inequality sign" a chain homotopy class of maps. So let (L_0, \hat{J}_0) and (L_1, \hat{J}_1) be elements of $\mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; K, \tilde{J})$. Arguing as in Sect. 3 we can construct a regular homotopy of monotone homotopies $\lambda \rightarrow (L_{\lambda}, \hat{J}_{\lambda}), \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$(L_s, \hat{J}_s) = (L_0, \hat{J}_0) \quad \text{for } s \leq 0$$
$$(L_s, \hat{J}_s) = (L_1, \hat{J}_1) \quad \text{for } s \geq 1$$

so that the operator (for p > 2)

$$\mathscr{B}: \mathbb{R} \times \mathscr{B}^{1, p}(x, y) \longrightarrow L^{p}(Z, \mathbb{C}^{n}): (\lambda, u) \longrightarrow \partial_{(L_{1}, \tilde{J}_{1})}(u)$$

has zero as a regular value. We are mainly interested in the cases

$$Ind(x, H) - Ind(y, K) \in \{-1, 0\}$$
.

Then $\operatorname{Ind}(T) \in \{0, 1\}$ in view of the additional λ -parameter and our index formula. Our aim is to prove the formula

(137)
$$\Psi_{(L_1,\hat{J}_1)} - \Psi_{(L_0,\hat{J}_0)} = \partial \Lambda - \Lambda \partial$$

for a suitable homotopy operator Λ . Clearly (137) implies the desired conclusion. We shall proceed as follows. Firstly we give an explicit definition for Λ and then secondly we derive the equality (137). In order to proceed it is useful to define a coherent orientation for a somewhat larger class of operators. Consider operators

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{T} \colon \mathbb{R} \times H^{1,2}(Z, \mathbb{C}^n) &\to L^2(Z, \mathbb{C}^n) \\ \\ \widehat{T}(\lambda, H) &= Th + \lambda a , \end{aligned}$$

where T is of class Σ as introduced in Subsect. 4.1 and $a \in L^2(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$. We have an exact sequence

(138)
$$0 \to \ker(T) \xrightarrow{d_1} \ker(\hat{T}) \xrightarrow{d_2} \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{d_3} \operatorname{cokern}(T) \xrightarrow{d_4} \operatorname{cokern}(\hat{T}) \to 0$$
,

where

$$d_1(h) = (o, h)$$
$$d_2(\lambda, h) = \lambda$$
$$d_3(\lambda) = \lambda a + R(T)$$
$$d_4(h + R(T)) = h + R(\hat{T}).$$

A simple algebraic lemma, see [21], shows that (138) induces a natural isomorphism

 $\Lambda^{\max} \operatorname{kern}(T) \otimes \mathbb{R} \otimes \Lambda^{\max} \operatorname{cokern}(\hat{T}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Lambda^{\max} \operatorname{kern}(\hat{T}) \otimes \Lambda^{\max} \operatorname{cokern}(T) .$

Multiplying by $(\Lambda^{\max} \operatorname{cokern}(\hat{T}))^* \otimes (\Lambda^{\max} \operatorname{cokern}(T))^*$ and using the natural isomorphisms $E \otimes F \simeq F \otimes E$, $E \otimes E^* \simeq \mathbb{R}$, $E \otimes \mathbb{R} \simeq E$ we obtain a natural homomorphism

(139)
$$\operatorname{Det}(T) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Det}(\widehat{T})$$
.

Independent of the choice of $a \in L^2$ an operator \hat{T}_a has an asymptotics given of course by the asymptotics of T. For given asymptotic operators α , β we denote by $\hat{\theta}_{\alpha,\beta}$ the set consisting of all \hat{T}_a , with $T \in \theta_{\alpha,\beta}$, $a \in L^2$. We have a glueing procedure, see [21], which allows to construct for an orientation $\hat{\sigma}_{\alpha,\beta}$ of $\hat{\theta}_{\alpha,\beta}$ and an orientation

 $\hat{o}_{\beta,\gamma}$ of $\hat{\theta}_{\beta,\gamma}$ an orientation $o_{\alpha,\beta} \# \hat{o}_{\beta,\gamma}$ of $\hat{\theta}_{\alpha,\gamma}$ and similarly for $\hat{o}_{\hat{\theta}\alpha,\beta}$ of $\theta_{\alpha,\beta}$ and $o_{\beta,\gamma}$ of $\theta_{\beta,\gamma}$ a $\hat{o}_{\alpha\beta} \# o_{\beta\gamma}$ of $\hat{\theta}_{\alpha\gamma}$. The isomorphism in (139) produces from an $o_{\alpha\beta}$ a $\hat{o}_{\alpha\beta}$. The following formulae are easily established given a coherent orientation σ

$$(\sigma(\alpha, \beta) \# \sigma(\beta, \gamma))^{\wedge} = \sigma(\alpha, \beta)^{\wedge} \# \sigma(\beta, \gamma)$$
$$= \sigma(\alpha, \beta) \# \sigma(\beta, \gamma)^{\wedge}.$$

Here $\sigma(\alpha, \beta)$ stands for the orientation of the determinant bundle over $\theta_{\alpha\beta}$ etc.

Now let $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$ and $y \in \mathscr{P}_K$ with $\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) - \operatorname{Ind}(y, K) = -1$. Then the Fredholm index of the nonlinear operator

$$B: \mathbb{R} \times \mathscr{B}^{1, p}(x, y) \to L^{p}(2, \mathbb{C}^{n})$$
$$B(\lambda, u) = \partial_{(H_{\lambda}, \tilde{J}_{\lambda})}(u)$$

is zero. In our generic case the linearization $B'(\lambda, w)$: $\mathbb{R} \times H^{1,p}(Z, \mathbb{C}^n) \to L^p(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$ is an isomorphism at every zero (λ, w) of B. We note that $B'(\lambda, w)$ also induces an isomorphism $\mathbb{R} \times H^{1,2}(Z, \mathbb{C}^n) \to L^2(Z, \mathbb{C}^n)$. For simplifying notation we denote the regular homotopy $\lambda \to (L_\lambda, \hat{J}_\lambda)$ by $\lambda \to M(\lambda)$. For x and y as above we define

$$\mathcal{M}(x, y; M(*)) = \{(\lambda, w) | w : Z \to \mathbb{C}^n \text{ smooth, } \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$$
$$B(\lambda, w) = 0, w(s, *) \to x \text{ as}$$
$$s \to -\infty, w(s, *) \to y, \text{ as } s \to +\infty\}$$

Under the previous index assumption the manifold $\mathcal{M}(x, y; M(*))$ consists of finitely many points¹, say $(\lambda_j, w_j)_{j=1,...,l}$ at which $B'(\lambda_j, w_j)$ is an isomorphism. We take as orientation of $\text{Det}(B'(\lambda_j, w_j))$ the orientation $[1 \otimes 1^*]$. The coherent orientation σ gives an orientation $\hat{\sigma}(B'(\lambda_j, w_j))$. We define a number $\hat{\tau}(\lambda_j, w_j) \in \{-1, 1\}$ by

(140)
$$\hat{\sigma}(B'(\lambda_j, w_j)) = \hat{\tau}(\lambda_j, w_j) [1 \otimes 1^*] .$$

Finally we define $\hat{\tau}(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}$ by

(141)
$$\hat{\tau}(x, y) := \sum_{j=1}^{l} \hat{\tau}(\lambda_j, w_j) \, .$$

Then we put

(142)
$$\Lambda(x) = \sum \hat{\tau}(x, y) y$$
$$\Lambda: C_k^a(H, J) \to C_{k+1}^a(K, \tilde{J}),$$

where the sum is taken over all $y \in \mathscr{P}_K$ with $\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) - \operatorname{Ind}(y, K) = -1$. Our aim is to verify the formula (137). The proof of (137) is based on a study of $\mathscr{M}(x, z; M(*))$ for $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$, $y \in \mathscr{P}_K$ with $\operatorname{Ind}(x, H) = \operatorname{Ind}(y, K)$. Since the data is assumed to be generic a compactness argument(in the spirit of those previously used) shows that $\mathscr{M}(x, z; M(\cdot))$ decomposes into finitely many components, which are(taking orientation preserving maps) diffeomorphic to [0, 1], (0, 1], [0, 1),(0, 1) or S^1 , if we consider only the parts of the components in $[0, 1] \times \mathscr{B}^{1, p}(x, z)$. This is illustrated by Fig. 1.

¹ By a compactness argument and regularity





Let us write $\Psi_i = \Psi_{(L_i, \hat{J}_i)}$ for i = 0, 1. By construction

$$(\Psi_1 - \Psi_0)(x) = \sum (\tilde{\tau}_1(x, z) - \tilde{\tau}_0(x, z))z ,$$

where $\tilde{\tau}_i(x, z) = \sum \tilde{\tau}_i(w)$ with $\tilde{\tau}_i(w)$ defined in(121) for i = 0, 1.

Through every (0, w) or (1, w) where w is as above there goes exactly one component as depicted in Fig. 1. Let us show that in the formula for $\Psi_1 - \Psi_0$ only those w count for which (0, w) or (1, w) is contained in a component of type [0, 1) or (0, 1]. So let us assume for example (0, w) lies on a component of type [0, 1]. By definition

$$\sigma(w) = \tilde{\tau}_0(w) \left[(1 \otimes 1^*)_w \right] \,.$$

The other end of the component corresponds to a (ε, w') for $\varepsilon \in \{0, 1\}$. Let $T: [0, 1] \times \mathscr{B}^{1, p}(x, z) \to L^p$ with p > 2 be the obvious maps. Using elliptic regularity theory we always consider the linearization of T as an operator in a L^2 -set up. The first case is $\varepsilon = 0$ We know that $\hat{\sigma}(DT(0, w))$ and $\hat{\sigma}(DT(0, w'))$ are related by continuation and also ($[1 \otimes 1^*]$ at (0, w)) and ($[-1 \otimes 1^*]$ at (0, w')). Hence

$$\tilde{\tau}_0(w) = -\tilde{\tau}_0(w') \; .$$

If $\varepsilon = 1$ we infer similarly

$$\tilde{\tau}_0(w) = \tilde{\tau}_1(w') \; .$$

Let $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(z) = \{(\varepsilon, w) \mid \text{There exists a component of type } [0, 1) \text{ or } (0, 1) \text{ through } (\varepsilon, w)\}.$

We have shown

$$(\Psi_1 - \Psi_0)(x) = \sum_z \left(\sum_{(1,w)\in\Gamma_1(z)} \tilde{\tau}_1(w) \right) z - \left(\sum_{(0,w)\in\Gamma_0(z)} \tilde{\tau}_0(w) \right) z .$$





Next let $(0, w) \in \Gamma_0$. The component through (0, w) has a non compact end which corresponds via glueing and the usual compactness analysis to a broken trajectory



There are two cases to be considered. The broken trajectory has the form (λ', w') followed by some $u' \in \mathcal{M}(y, z, K, \tilde{J})$ or $u \in \mathcal{M}(x, y, H, J)$ followed by some $(\lambda', w') \in \mathcal{M}(y, z, M(*))$. Consider the first case.

The orientation $\hat{\sigma}(DT(0, w))$ and the glued orientation

$$\hat{\sigma}(DT(\lambda', w')) \# \sigma(\partial'_{K,\hat{j}}(u'))$$

on a connecting orbit(near the broken one) are related by continuation. Also the orientation given by $(-1 \otimes 1^*) \in \text{kern} (DT(0, w)) \otimes \mathbb{R}^*$ and the orientation obtained by glueing $1 \otimes 1^*$ above (λ', w') and u'_s above u' correspond. Hence

$$-[(1 \otimes 1^{*})_{(0,w)}] = [(1 \otimes 1^{*})_{(\lambda',w')}] \# [u'_{s}]$$

= $\hat{\tau}(\lambda',w')\hat{\sigma}(DT(\lambda',w')) \# \tau(u')\sigma(u')$
= $\hat{\tau}(\lambda',w')\tau(u')\hat{\sigma}(DT(0,w))$
= $\hat{\tau}(\lambda',w')\tau(u')\hat{\tau}_{0}(w)[(1 \otimes 1^{*})_{(0,w)}].$

Therefore we obtain the formula

(143)
$$\tilde{\tau}_{0}(w) = -\hat{\tau}(\lambda', w')\tau(u') \text{ for } (0, w) \rightsquigarrow \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \downarrow_{i}(\lambda', w')$$
$$\downarrow_{i}u'$$

Similarly

(144)
$$\tilde{\tau}_{0}(w) = \tau(u)\hat{\tau}(\lambda', w') \text{ for } (0, w) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} (\lambda', w')$$

Further

$$\tilde{\tau}_1(w') = \hat{\tau}(\lambda, w)\tau(u') \quad \text{for} \quad (0, w') \quad \leadsto \quad \bigoplus_{\substack{\downarrow \\ \psi' \\ \bullet}} (\lambda, w)$$

(145)

$$\tilde{\tau}_{1}(w') = -\tau(u)\hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) \text{ for } (1, w') \xrightarrow{\bullet} \underbrace{\downarrow}_{\downarrow} (\lambda, w)$$

Hence we may write $\Psi_1(x) - \Psi_0(x)$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} \Psi_1(x) - \Psi_0(x) &= \sum_z \left(\sum_{(1, w) \in \Gamma_1(z)} \tilde{\tau}_1(w) \right) z - \sum_z \left(\sum_{(0, w) \in \Gamma_0(z)} \tilde{\tau}_0(w) \right) z \\ &= -\sum_z \left(\sum_{(u, (\lambda, w))} \tau(u) \hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) \right) z \\ &+ \sum_z \left(\sum_{((\lambda, w), u)} \hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) \tau(u) \right) z \;. \end{split}$$

Here in the first sum over all z with Ind(z, K) = Ind(x, H) the pairs $(u, (\lambda, w))$ vary over all broken trajectories of the type

$$\begin{array}{c} x \bullet \\ \downarrow u \\ y \bullet \\ \downarrow (\lambda, w) \\ z \bullet \end{array}$$

with $\operatorname{Ind}(y, H) = \operatorname{Ind}(x, H) - 1$, $\operatorname{Ind}(z, K) - \operatorname{Ind}(y, H) = -1$, corresponding to an end of a component of type [0, 1) or (0, 1]. In the second sum over z the z-coefficient is obtained by taking the sum over all broken trajectories of the type

$$\begin{array}{c} x \bullet \\ \downarrow (\lambda, w) \\ y' \bullet \\ \downarrow u \\ z \bullet \end{array}$$

with $y' \in \mathscr{P}_K$, beeing the "end" of a component of type [0, 1) or (0, 1]. Consider finally components of the form (0, 1). We have to consider the following cases in identifying their ends with broken trajectories



We obtain the following formulae

a)
$$\tau(u)\hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) = -\tau(u')\hat{\tau}(\lambda', w')$$

 $y, y' \in \mathscr{P}_H$
b) $\tau(u)\hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) = \hat{\tau}(\lambda', w')\tau(u')$
 $y \in \mathscr{P}_H, y' \in \mathscr{P}_K$
c) $\hat{\tau}(\lambda, w)\tau(u) = -\hat{\tau}(\lambda', w')\tau(u')$
 $y, y' \in \mathscr{P}_K$.

Using the above discussion we may write

$$\begin{split} \Psi_1(x) - \Psi_0(x) &= \sum_z \left(\sum_{(u, (\lambda, w))} \tau(u) \hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) \right) z - \sum_z \left(\sum_{((\lambda, w), u)} \hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) \tau(u) \right) z \\ &= -\sum_z n_1(x, z) z + \sum_z n_0(x, z) \; . \end{split}$$

Here $n_1(x, z)$ is obtained by taking the sum over all broken trajectories of the type $(u, (\lambda, w))$ and $n_0(x, z)$ by taking all broken trajectories between x and z of type $((\lambda, w), u)$.

Consider the expression $\partial A(x) - A \partial(x)$. We have

$$\partial \Lambda(x) = \sum_{z} \left(\sum_{((\lambda, w), u)} \hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) \tau(u) \right) z$$
$$\Lambda \partial(x) = \sum_{z} \left(\sum_{(u, (\lambda, w))} \tau(u) \hat{\tau}(\lambda, w) \right) z$$

where the second \sum in each row is taken over the indicated set of broken trajectories from x to z. Hence

$$\Lambda \partial(x) - \partial \Lambda(x) = \sum_{z} n_1(x, z) z - \sum_{z} n_0(x, z) z$$

This proves

$$\Psi_1 - \Psi_0 = \partial \Lambda - \Lambda \partial .$$

Implying that Ψ_1 and Ψ_0 induce the same map in homology.

4.4 A general construction

In the previous sections we have constructed a covariant functor on $(\mathcal{N}_{reg}, \leq)$ associating to a pair (H, J) and a number $a \in (-\infty, +\infty]$ a chain complex $(C^a(H, J), \partial)$. We drop the dependence on the choice of a pair (σ, α_0) in view of our previous discussion. Moreover to an inequality $(H, J) \leq (K, \tilde{J})$ we have a natural chain homotopy class denoted by

(146)
$$C^a_*(H,J) \to C^a_*(K,\tilde{J})$$

which is compatible with the natural inclusion

(147)
$$C^a_*(H,J) \rightarrow C^b_*(H,J)$$

for $a \leq b$. For an open bounded $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ we denote by $\mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ the subset of \mathcal{N}_{reg} consisting of all (H, J) such that $H \mid (S^1 \times \overline{U}) < 0$. For $\alpha = (H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ and $-\infty < a \leq b \leq +\infty$ we define

$$C^{[a,b]}_{*}(\alpha) := (C^{b}_{*}(\alpha)/C^{a}_{*}(\alpha),\partial) .$$

In view of our transversality results we have

Proposition 28 $(\mathcal{N}_{reg}(U), \leq)$ is a directed set, i.e. given $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ there exists $\gamma \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ such that

$$\alpha \leq \gamma, \quad \beta \leq \gamma.$$

Define $S_*^{[a,b)}(\alpha) = H_*(C_*^{[a,b)}(\alpha))$. Then

$$(S^{(a,b)}_{*}(\alpha))_{\alpha \in (\mathcal{N}_{reg}(U), \leq)}$$

is a directed system of Abelian groups. We note here that we could tensor $C_*^{[a,b)}(\alpha)$ with any Abelian group G before taking homology. In that case we write

$$S_*^{[a,b)}(\alpha;G) := H_*(C_*^{[a,b)}(\alpha) \otimes G) .$$

Hence we have

Theorem 29

$$(S^{[a,b]}_*(\alpha;G))_{\alpha\in\mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)}$$

is a directed system of graded Abelian groups.

Now we are able to define the symplectic homology of U as a subset of \mathbb{C}^n .

Definition 30 Let $-\infty < a \le b \le +\infty$ and U be an open bounded set and G be an Abelian group. The [a, b]-symplectic homology group of the set U in dimension k with coefficients in G is the Abelian group

$$S_k^{[a,b]}(U;G) := \lim_{\to} \left((S_k^{[a,b]}(\alpha;G))_{\alpha \in (\mathscr{N}_{reg}(U), \leq)} \right).$$

Consider intervals [a, b) with $-\infty < a \leq b \leq +\infty$ and write

$$[a, b) \leq [a', b')$$
 if $a \leq a', b \leq b'$.

For $[a, b) \leq [a', b')$ we have a natural chain map

(148)
$$C_*^{[a,b)}(\alpha; G) \to C_*^{[a',b')}(\alpha; G) .$$

This natural map gives rise to an exact sequence if a triplet of numbers $-\infty < a \leq b \leq c \leq +\infty$ is given

(149)
$$0 \to C^{(a,b)}_{*}(\alpha; G) \to C^{(a,c)}_{*}(\alpha; G) \to C^{(b,c)}_{*}(\alpha; G) \to 0 .$$

Passing to homology we have an exact homology triangle $\Delta_{a,b,c}(\alpha; G)$



with ∂_* being of degree -1. We sum up this result by

Theorem 31 Given an open bounded set $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and a triplet of numbers $-\infty < a \leq b \leq c < +\infty$ we obtain an exact triangle $\Delta_{a,b,c}(U; G)$.

Proof. Observe that lim preserves exactness.

Corollary 32 Given triplets $-\infty < a \leq b \leq c \leq +\infty$ and $+\infty < a' \leq b' \leq c' \leq +\infty$ with $[a, b) \leq [a', b')$ and $[b, c) \leq [b', c')$ we have a natural map between exact triangles

(151)
$$\Delta_{a,b,c}(U; G) \to \Delta_{a',b',c'}(U; G) .$$

Next assume U and V are bounded open subsets of \mathbb{C}^n and $U \subset V$. Then we have a natural inclusion

$$\mathcal{N}_{reg}(V) \subsetneq \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$$

80

and an induced natural map

(152)
$$S_*^{[a,b)}(V; G) \xrightarrow{mm} S_*^{[a,b)}(U; G) ,$$

where "mm" stands for monotonicity map. This gives also

(153)
$$\Delta_{a,b,c}(V; G) \xrightarrow{mm} \Delta_{a',b',c'}(U, G) .$$

The maps " \rightarrow " in (151) and " \xrightarrow{mm} " commute. Next let us denote by \mathscr{D} the group of compactly supported symplectic diffeomorphism in \mathbb{C}^n . Given $\alpha = (H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ and $\Psi \in \mathscr{D}$ we define $\alpha_{\Psi} \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ by

(154)
$$H_{\Psi}(t, u) = H(t, \Psi^{-1}(u))$$
$$J_{\Psi}(t, u) = T \Psi(\Psi^{-1}(u)) J(t, \Psi^{-1}(u)) T \Psi^{-1}(u) .$$

If u is a solution of the PDE associated to α then $\Psi(u)$ solves the PDE associated to α_{Ψ} . If $\alpha \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ then $\alpha_{\Psi} \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\Psi(U))$. Ψ induces therefore an isomorphism, denoted by $\Psi_{\#\#}$

(155)
$$\Psi_{\#\#}: S_*^{[a,b)}(U;G) \xrightarrow{\sim} S_*^{[a,b)}(\Psi(U);G) .$$

 $\Psi_{\#\#}$ is obtained in the direct limit by the maps $\Psi_{\#\#}(x) = \Psi(x), x \in \mathscr{P}_H$, $\alpha = (H, J)$. We observe that $\Psi_{\#\#}$ can be considered as isomorphism between exact triangles $\Delta_{a,b,c}(U; G)$ and $\Delta_{a,b,c}(\Psi(U); G)$. Using the monotonicity maps we define for $\Psi \in \mathscr{D}$ with $\Psi(U) \subset V$ the induced morphism Ψ^* : $S^{[a,b]}(V; G) \rightarrow S^{(a,b)}(U; G)$ by the factorization

(156)
$$S^{[a,b)}(V;G) \xrightarrow{\Psi^{*}} S^{[a,b)}(U;G)$$
$$\downarrow^{\Psi^{-1}_{\#^{\#}}}$$
$$S^{[a,b)}(\Psi(U);G)$$

This gives also a morphism Ψ^* between exact triangles

(157)
$$\Delta_{a,b,c}(V; G) \xrightarrow{\Psi^*} \Delta_{a,b,c}(U; G) .$$

From the construction it follows immediately that Ψ^* commutes with maps of type (151).

Theorem 33 Let U, V, W be bounded open subsets of \mathbb{C}^n and $\Phi, \Psi \in \mathcal{D}$ such that

$$\Phi(U) \subset V, \quad \Psi(V) \subset W.$$

Then we have the commutative diagram

(158)
$$\begin{array}{c} \Delta_{a,b,c}(W) & (\Psi \circ \Phi)^* & \Delta_{a,b,c}(U) \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ &$$

Proof. Let us denote by m_{UV} : $S^{[a,b]}(V) \rightarrow S^{[a,b]}(U)$ the monotonicity map for $U \subset V$. We have to show

$$(\Psi \circ \Phi)_{\#\,\#}^{-1} m_{\Psi \circ \Phi(U),\,W} = \Phi_{\#\,\#}^{-1} m_{\Phi(U),\,V} \,\Psi_{\#\,\#}^{-1} m_{\Psi(V),\,W}$$

We have $m_{\Psi^{\circ}\Phi(U),W} = m_{\Psi^{\circ}\Phi(U),\Psi(V)}m_{\Psi(V),W}$. Hence it suffices to show that

$$\Psi_{\#\#}^{-1} m_{\Psi^{\circ} \Phi(U), \Psi(V)} = m_{\Phi(U), V} \Psi_{\#\#}^{-1},$$

using that $(\Psi \circ \Phi)_{\#\#}^{-1} = \Phi_{\#\#}^{-1} \Psi_{\#\#}^{-1}$. Given $\alpha = (H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\Psi(V))$ we have for $\beta \ge \alpha_{\Psi^{-1}}$ the commutative diagram

For this observe that we just apply to the first vertical the map Ψ^{-1} also transforming the complex giving the monotonicity morphism to obtain a monotonicity morphism depicted by the second vertical arrow (recall that the choice of monotone homotopy does not matter). Passing to the limit in (159) gives

(We dropped the G-dependence in our notation). The above diagram in (160) implies the desired conclusion.

4.5 Isotopy invariance

We start with some notation. Let $L: \mathbb{R} \times S^1 \times \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a smooth map satisfying for suitable constants c and R > 0

(161)

$$|L'(s, t, u)| \leq c(1 + |u|) \quad \text{for all} \quad (s, t, u)$$

$$|L''(s, t, u)h| \leq c|h| \quad \text{for all} \quad (s, t, u), h \in \mathbb{C}^n$$

$$L(s, t, u) = L(o, t, u) \quad \text{for all} \quad (s, t, u) \text{ with } |u| \geq R$$

$$L(s, t, u) =: H(t, u) \quad \text{for } s \leq s_0$$

$$L(s, t, u) =: K(t, u) \quad \text{for } s \geq s_0,$$

where $H, K \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$. By our assumption necessarily H - K has compact support. We call L a homotopy between H and K. We define a number $d(L) \in [0, +\infty)$ by

(162)
$$d(L) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left(\max_{x \in \mathbb{C}^{n}} \left| \frac{\partial L}{\partial s}(\tau, t, u) \right| \right) dt \right) d\tau .$$

Moreover we put for $H, K \in \mathcal{H}$ with H - K compactly supported

(163)
$$d(H, K) = \inf \{ d(L) | L \text{ is a homotopy between } H \text{ and } K \}$$
.

Next let $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and $a \in (-\infty, +\infty]$. We define $\mathscr{P}_{H}(a)$ by

$$\mathscr{P}_{H}(a) = \left\{ x \in \mathscr{P}_{H} \, | \, \Phi_{H}(x) < a \right\} \, .$$

For $-\infty < a \leq b \leq +\infty$ we put

$$\mathscr{P}_{H}([a, b]) = \mathscr{P}_{H}(b) \setminus \mathscr{P}_{H}(a)$$
.

Given $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and a, b as above we define the "gap" g(H, [a, b)) by

$$g(H, [a, b)) = \inf\{|\Phi_H(x) - \Phi_H(y)| \mid |x \in \mathscr{P}_H([a, b)),$$

$$y \notin \mathcal{P}_{H} \setminus (\mathcal{P}_{H}([a, b)))$$
.

We have

Lemma 34 Let $H \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$ and $-\infty < a \leq b \leq +\infty$, then

 $g(H,[a,b))\in(0, +\infty].$

Define for $H, K \in \mathscr{H}_{reg}$

$$g(H, K, [a, b)) = \inf\{g(H, [a, b)), g(K, [a, b))\}.$$

A crucial result is the following proposition

Proposition 35 Given $(H, J), (K, \tilde{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ with H - K compactly supported and

d(H, K) < g(H, K; [a, b))

there exists a natural map

$$\phi_{(K,H)}: S^{[a,b)}(H,J) \longrightarrow S^{[a,b)}(K,\tilde{J})$$

given by the meanwhile usual construction by any homotopy L between H and K satisfying

$$d(L) < g(H, K, [a, b))$$

and an associated regular almost complex structure having a (s, t)-dependence in the usual way. Moreover if H_1, H_2, H_3 are given with

$$d(H_i, H_{i+1}) < \frac{1}{2}g(H_i, H_{i+1}, [a, b])$$
 for $i = 1, 2$

then

$$\phi_{(H_3,H_2)}\phi_{(H_2,H_1)} = \phi_{(H_3,H_1)}$$

Moreover

 $\phi(H,H) = \mathrm{Id} \; .$

Proof. Let *u* be a solution of

(164)
$$u_{s} - \hat{J}(s, t, u)u_{t} - (\nabla_{j} L)(s, t, u) = 0$$
$$u(s, *) \rightarrow x \quad \text{as } s \rightarrow -\infty$$
$$u(s, *) \rightarrow y \quad \text{as } s \rightarrow +\infty ,$$

where $x \in \mathscr{P}_H(c)$ for either c = a or c = b, respectively. Assume d(L) < g(H, K, [a, b)) and (L, \hat{J}) is a regular pair (with the obvious meaning). Then

$$\frac{d}{ds} \Phi_{L(s)}(u(s)) = - \left\| \Phi'_{L(s)}(u(s)) \right\|_{s,u(s)}^2 - \int_0^1 \frac{\partial L}{\partial s} (s, t, u(s, t)) dt$$
$$\leq \int_0^1 \left[\sup_{x \in \mathbb{C}^n} \left| \frac{\partial L}{\partial s} (s, t, u) \right| \right] dt .$$

Hence

$$\Phi_K(y) - \Phi_H(x) \leq d(L) < g(H, K; [a, b)).$$

Therefore

$$\Phi_{K}(y) \in (-\infty, c + d(L)],$$

which implies by the definition of the gap and our hypotheses

$$\Phi_K(y) \in (-\infty, c)$$

i.e. $y \in \mathscr{P}_{K}(c)$. Hence we may use the combinatorics of the solutions of (164) to define a chain map

$$C^{[a,b)}_*(H,J) \longrightarrow C^{[a,b)}_*(K,\tilde{J})$$
.

If we take another homotopy with the same properties we deduce that the induced map is chain homotopic. For this the same argument works as in the section concerning monotone homotopies. (In fact we construct a homotopy between the homotopies satisfying for every parameter $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ the inequality between d and g. Then we choose a generic \hat{J} making the pair a regular homotopy between homotopies).

Next let L^1 be a homotopy between H^1 and H^2 and L^2 between H^2 and H^3 . Using L^1 and L^2 we can construct a homotopy between H^1 and H^3 denoted by $L^1 \# L^2$ satisfying

$$d(L^1 \# L^2) < g(H^1, H^3, [a, b])$$

so that via a glueing argument

$$\phi_{(H^3, H^2)}\phi_{(H^2, H^1)} = \phi_{(H^3, H^1)}.$$

see [38] for a discussion of formulae of the above type, or [19]. Obviously

$$\phi_{(H,H)} = \mathrm{Id} \ . \qquad \Box$$

We shall refer to Proposition 35 as the Stability theorem. It is a crucial ingredient of the proof of

Theorem 36 Let $(\Psi_s)_{s \in [0, 1]} \subset \mathcal{D}$ be a smooth arc and $U, V \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ bounded open subsets such that $\Psi_s(U) \subset V$ for all $s \in [0, 1]$. For given numbers $-\infty < a \leq b \leq +\infty$ we have that the induced morphism

$$(\Psi_s)^*: S^{[a,b)}(V) \rightarrow S^{[a,b)}(U)$$

is independent of $s \in [0, 1)$.

It suffices to show that for every $s_0 \in [0, 1]$ there exists an open neighbourhood $U(s_0)$ in [0, 1] such that for $s \in U(s_0)$ we have $(\Psi_s)^* = (\Psi_{s_0})^*$. By definition we have



84

Let $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ and consider $(H_{\Psi_s}, J_{\Psi_s}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(\Phi_s(U)) \mathcal{N}_{reg}(V)$. We observe that given any $(K, \tilde{J}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(V)$ we can always find $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ such that

$$(H_{\Psi_s}, J_{\Psi_s}) \ge (K, \widetilde{J})$$
 for all $s \in [0, 1]$.

Hence we have the monotonicity maps from

$$S^{[a,b)}(K,\tilde{J}) \xrightarrow{mm} S^{[a,b)}(H_{\Psi s}, J_{\Psi s})$$

We observe that for $s_2 - s_1 \rightarrow 0$ we have $d(H_{\Psi s_2}, H_{\Psi s_1}) \rightarrow 0$. Hence for $|s_2 - s_1|$ small we have the commutative diagram



If we can show that

(165)
$$\phi(H_{\Psi_{s2}}, H_{\Psi_{s1}}) = (\Psi_{s_2} \circ \Psi_{s_1}^{-1})_{\# \#}$$

the proof of the theorem is complete in view of the definition of Φ_s^* . Hence it remains to prove (135). For doing so we may assume $\tau \rightarrow \Psi_{\tau}$ is a smooth arc in \mathscr{D} with $\Psi_0 = \text{Id.}$ Let $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{\text{reg}}$ and $-\infty < a \leq b \leq +\infty$. We have to show that $(\Psi_{\tau})_{\# \#} = \phi$ for τ close to zero, where ϕ is the "small distance isomorphism". Consider the partial differential equation

(166)
$$v_s - J(t, v)v_t - (\nabla_J H)(t, v) = 0$$

with asymptotic boundary conditions. We are interested in solutions which connect data with the same index. Since the data is generic we have necessarily

$$v(s,t) = x(t), \quad x \in \mathscr{P}_H$$

Next let $\beta : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$ be a smooth map such that $\beta(s) = 0$ for $s \leq 0$ and $\beta(s) = 1$ for $s \geq 1$, $\beta'(s) > 0$ for $s \in (0, 1)$. For $\varepsilon > 0$ smooth, define

(167) $H^{\varepsilon}(s, t, u) = H(t, \Psi_{\varepsilon\beta(s)}^{-1}(u))$ $J^{\varepsilon}(s, t, u) = D\Psi_{\varepsilon\beta(s)}(\Psi_{\varepsilon\beta(s)}^{-1}(u)) J(t, \Psi_{\varepsilon\beta(s)}^{-1}(u)) D\Psi_{\varepsilon\beta(s)}^{-1}(u).$

Then $(H^{\varepsilon}, J^{\varepsilon})$ can be considered as a homotopy between (H, J) and $(H_{\Psi_{\varepsilon}}, J_{\Psi_{\varepsilon}})$. We shall see shortly that $(H^{\varepsilon}, J^{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(H, J; H_{\Psi_{\varepsilon}} J_{\Psi_{\varepsilon}})$ for $\varepsilon > 0$ small. We solve

(168)
$$0 = w_s - J^{\varepsilon}(s, t, w)w_t - (\nabla_J H^{\varepsilon})(s, t, w),$$

connecting two critical points of the same Morse index. We define

$$w(s,t) = \Psi_{\varepsilon\theta(s)}(u(s,t)) =: \theta(s,u(s,t))$$

Then

(169)
$$0 = \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial s}(s, u) + D_2 \theta(s, u) u_s - J^{\epsilon}(s, t, \theta(s, u)) D_2 \theta(s, u) u_t - (\nabla_{J'} H^{\epsilon})(s, t, \theta(s, u)) = D_2 \theta(s, u) \bigg[(u_s - J(t, u) u_t - (\nabla_J H)(t, u)) + D_2 \theta(s, u)^{-1} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial s}(s, u) \bigg] =: D_2 \theta(s, u) [(u_s - J(t, u) u_t - (\nabla_J H)(t, u)) + \Gamma_{\epsilon}(s, u)] .$$

We observe that $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(s, u) = 0$ for $|s| \ge 1$ and $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(s, u) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Γ_{ε} is a compact perturbation. If $\varepsilon \to 0$ it follows quite easily that the solutions u of (169) converge (if the Morse index difference is zero) to v, v(s, t) = x(t), for a suitable $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$, where the convergence is in $\mathscr{B}^{1,p}(x, x)$. If we assume $(H, J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}$ it follows from the implicit function theorem that given any $x \in \mathscr{P}_H$ and putting $x_{\varepsilon} = \Psi_{\varepsilon}(x)$ there exists a unique solution w_{ε} of (168) connecting x with x_{ε} such that the associated u_{ε} given by (169) is close to v. And in view of the compactness these are all solutions. Hence $(H^{\varepsilon}, J^{\varepsilon})$ is regular for $\varepsilon > 0$ small and the chain map given by

$$C^{a}(H, J) \rightarrow C^{a}(H_{\Psi}, J_{\Psi})$$

by the map $x \rightarrow \Psi_{\varepsilon}(x)$, $x \in \mathscr{P}_{H}$ coincides with the "small distance isomorphism" chain map. Hence

$$(\Psi_{\tau})_{\#\,\#} = \phi \quad \text{for } |\tau| \text{ small }.$$

4.6 Some remarks

Products. Let $U \subset \mathbb{C}^l$, $V \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ be open and put n = l + m. Let $(H, i) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ and $(K, i) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(V)$. In view of our discussion in previous chapters we know that pairs of the above type are cofinal so that $S^{[a,b]}(U)$ or $S^{[a,b]}(V)$ could be defined by taking only limits over these classes of pairs. We define $H \oplus K$: $\mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ in the obvious way and obtain $(H \oplus K, i) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U \times V)$. Strictly speaking $H \oplus K$ does not belong to the admissible class of Hamiltonians. However, the analysis works as well here. Obviously

$$C^{a}_{*}(H \times K, i) = \bigcup_{c \in \mathbb{R}} \left(C^{a-c}(H, i) \otimes C^{c}(K, i) \right)$$
$$\subset C^{\infty}(H, i) \otimes C^{\infty}(K, i) .$$

This formula can be used to study the symplectic homology of a product if the chain complexes for the factors are known. This will be used in [24], in computing the symplectic homology of polydisks.

Closed characteristics. If U is a bounded open set with smooth boundary one can start with a Hamiltonian $H: \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ which satisfies $H \mid \overline{U} < 0$ and having ∂U as a regular level surface. The neighbourhood of ∂U will be foliated by other level sufaces of H. If H grows fast enough outside of \overline{U} it will follow that the 1-periodic solutions of $\dot{x} = X_M(x)$ will be close to ∂U . Taking now a small t-dependent perturbation in a suitable way a nondegenerate 1-periodic solution of the autonomous system will split into 2 nondegenerate 1-periodic solutions of the perturbed system with Conley-Zehnder index differing by 1.

In some sense our limiting process of $S^{[a,b)}(H,J)$ with $(H,J) \in \mathcal{N}_{reg}(U)$ can be understood as an approximation of the group " $S^{[a,b)}(H_U)$ " with $H_U(x) = 0$ for

86

 $x \in \overline{U}$ $H(x) = +\infty$, $x \notin \overline{U}$. In this way one can understand $S^{[a,b)}(U)$ for nice U in the following way. For every closed characteristic P (perhaps an iterated one) consider symbols P^- , P^+ with numerical values $A(P) := |k \int \lambda |P|$, $d\lambda = \omega$, i.e. the action (multiplicity is k) and a Conley-Zehnder index $\mu(P^-)$, $\mu(P^+)$ with $\mu(P^+) - \mu(P^-) = 1$. For $a \in (-\infty, +\infty]$ we define

$$C_k^a = \bigoplus \mathbb{Z} B$$

with $B \in \{P^+, P^- \mid P\}$ and $A(B) < a\mu(B) = k$. The limiting process defines then a boundary operator on C^a . This kind of approximation has been constructed in [10] in order to define symplectic capacities. So the symplectic homology is in some sense partially generated by closed characteristics, where each closed characteristic gives a contribution in two consecutive dimensions. This will be made more precise in [24].

Outlook. The construction we used here takes advantage of some of the special features of \mathbb{C}^n . Replacing \mathbb{C}^n by some symplectic manifold with some assumptions on ω and c_1 one can modify the construction in several ways leading to different, however closely related theories. The techniques are comparable to those which occurred here. In [22] we will present some of the possible constructions. They will be illustrated in [25].

References

- 1. Amann, H.: Fixed point equations and nonlinear eigenvalue problems in ordered Banach spaces. Siam Rev., 18, 620-709 (1976)
- Amann, H., Zehnder, E.: Periodic solutions of asymptotically linear Hamiltonian systems. Manus Math. 32, 149-189 (1980)
- Arnold, V.I.: Sur une propriété topologique des applications globalement canoniques de la méchanique classique. C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris 261, 3719-3722 (1965)
- 4. Arnold, V.I.: Mathematical methods of classical mechanics. Chapter Appendix 9. Berlin Heidelberg New York: Springer 1978
- 5. Benci, V.: Lecture MSRI, Berkeley September 1988
- 6. Cieliebak, K.: Pseudoholomorphic curves and periodic orbits of Hamiltonian systems on cotangent bundles. Ruhr Universität Bochum, Preprint (1992)
- 7. Conley, C., Zehnder, E.: The Birkhoff-Lewis fixed point theorem and a conjecture of V.I. Arnold. Invent. Math. 73, 33-49 (1983)
- 8. Conley, C., Zehnder, E.: Morse type index theory for flows and periodic solutions of Hamiltonian equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 37, 207-253 (1984)
- Ekeland, I., Hofer, H.: Convex Hamiltonian energy surfaces and their closed trajectories. Commun. Math. Phys. 113, 419-467 (1987)
- Ekeland, I., Hofer, H.: Symplectic topology and Hamiltonian dynamics. Math. Z. 200, 355-378 (1990)
- 11. Ekeland, I., Hofer, H.: Symplectic topology and Hamiltonian dynamics II. Math. Z. 203, 553-567 (1990)
- 12. Eliashberg, Y., Hofer, H.: Towards the definition of symplectic boundary. GAFA 2, 211–220 (1992)
- 13. Eliashberg, Y., Hofer, H.: Unseen symplectic boundaries Preprint
- Eliashberg, Y., Hofer, H.: An energy capacity inequality for the symplectic holonomy of hypersurfaces flat at infinity. Proc. of a workshop on symplectic geometry, Warwick 1990 (to appear)
- 15. Floer, A.: A relative index for the symplectic action. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 41, 393-407 (1988)
- 16. Floer, A.: Morse theory for Lagrangian intersection theory. J. Differ. Geom. 18, 513-517

(1988)

- Floer, A.: The unregularised gradient flow of the symplectic action. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 41, 775-813 (1988)
- Floer, A.: Cuplength estimates on Lagrangian intersections. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 42, 335–356 (1989)
- 19. Floer, A.: Symplectic fixed points and holomorphic spheres. Commun. Math. Phys. 120, 576-611 (1989)
- Floer, A.: Witten's complex and infinite dimensional Morse theory. J. Differ. Geom. 30, 207-221 (1989)
- 21. Floer, A., Hofer, H.: Coherent orientations for periodic orbit problems in symplectic geometry. Math. Z. (to appear)
- 22. Floer, A., Hofer, H.: Symplectic homology II: General symplectic manifolds (In preparation)
- 23. Floer, A., Hofer, H., Salamon, D.: A note on unique continuation in the elliptic Morse theory for the action functional. (In preparation)
- 24. Floer, A., Hofer, H., Wysocki, K.: Applications of symplectic homology I. (Preprint)
- 25. Floer, A., Hofer, H., Wyasocki, K.: Applications of symplectic homology II. (In preparation)
- Gromov, M.: Pseudoholomorphic curves in symplectic manifolds. Inv. Math. 82, 307–347 (1985)
- 27. Gromov, M.: Soft and hard differential geometry. In: Proceedings of the ICM at Berkeley 1986. pp. 81-89 (1987)
- Hofer, H.: Ljusternik-Schnirelmann theory for Lagrangian intersections. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré 5(5), 465-499 (1988)
- Hofer, H.: On the topological properties of symplectic maps. Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh 115A, 25-38 (1990)
- Hofer, H., Viterbo, C.: The Weinstein conjecture in the presence of holomorphic spheres. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 45(5), 583-622 (1992)
- 31. Hofer, H., Zehnder, E.: Hamiltonian dynamics and symplectic invariants. (In preparation)
- Hofer, H., Zehnder, E.: Analysis et cetera. Chapter: A new capacity for symplectic manifolds. Rabinowitz, P., Zehnder, E. (eds.), pp. 405-428. New York: Academic Press 1990.
- Lockhard, R., McOwen, R.: Elliptic operators on non compact manifolds. Ann. Sc. Norm. Sup. Pisa 12(12), 409-446 (1985)
- 34. McDuff, D.: Elliptic methods in symplectic geometry. Bull. AMS 23(2), 311-358 (1990)
- 35. Rabinowitz, P.: Periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 31, 157-184 (1978)
- Rabinowitz, P.: Periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems on a prescribed energy surface. J. Differ. Eq. 33, 336-352 (1979)
- 37. Sachs, J., Uhlenbeck, K.K.: The existence of minimal 2-spheres. Ann. Math. 113, 1-24 (1983)
- Salamon, D.: Morse theory, the Conley index and Floer homology. Bull. L.M.S. 22, 113–140 (1990)
- 39. Salamon, D., Zehnder, E.: Morse theory for periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems and the Maslov index. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. (to appear)
- Salamon, D., Zehnder, E.: Analysis et cetera. Chapter: Floer homology, the Maslov index and periodic orbits of Hamiltonian equations, Rabinowitz, P., Zehnder, E. (eds.), pp. 573-600. New York: Adademic Press 1990
- Sikorav, J.-C.: Rigidité symplectique dans le cotangent der tⁿ. Duke Math. J. 59, 227-231 (1989)
- Viterbo, C.: A proof of the Weinstein conjecture in R²ⁿ. Ann. Inst. Henri Poncaré, Analyse nonlinéaire 4, 337-357 (1987)
- 43. Viterbo, C.: Capacités symplectiques et applications. Artéristique, 695 (1989) Séminaire Bourbaki
- 44. Viterbo, C.: Symplectic topology as the geometry of generating functions. Math. Ann. 292, 685-710 (1992)
- 45. Witten, E.: Supersymmetry and Morse theory. J. Differ. Geom. 17, 661-692 (1982)